



Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Leadership Strategies for Implementing Quality Improvement Initiatives in Primary Care Facilities

Jose A. PonceVega Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Health and Medical Administration Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jose A. PonceVega

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Irene Williams, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Edward Paluch, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. David Moody, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Leadership Strategies for Implementing Quality Improvement Initiatives in Primary Care

Facilities

by

Jose A. PonceVega

MHA, Baylor University, 2013

MBA, Baylor University, 2013

BS, Southern Illinois University, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

Abstract

Health care spending accounts for 17.7% of the gross domestic product in the United States, and it is expected to continue rising at an annual rate of 5.3%. Despite high costs, health care quality lags behind other high-income countries; yet, over 70% of change initiatives fail. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore strategies primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The target population consisted of 3 health care leaders of 3 primary care facilities in southern California who successfully implemented quality improvement initiatives. The conceptual framework for this study was Kotter's 8-step of change management. Data were collected through face-to-face semistructured interviews with senior health care managers, document review, and quality reports. Member checking of interview transcripts strengthened the credibility of the findings. Data analysis included Yin's 5-phase process, which consisted of compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding the data. Themes emerged from the use of methodological triangulation of data. The themes included communication, leadership support, inclusive decision-making, and employee recognition. The implications of the findings of this study for positive social change include assisting primary care leaders in improving strategies for implementing quality improvement initiatives to increase efficiency, reduce health care cost, and improve patient and community health.

Leadership Strategies for Implementing Quality Improvement Initiatives in Primary Care

Facilities

by

Jose A. PonceVega

MHA, Baylor University, 2013 MBA, Baylor University, 2013 BS, Southern Illinois University, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this study to my entire family for their love, support, and encouragement throughout this journey. First, I dedicate this accomplishment to my amazing wife, Maegan, for exhibiting tireless patience and understanding while I have been pursuing my personal and professional goals. I also dedicate this study to my parents, Luz and Jose, because they have always been my source of inspiration. Whatever I am today is because of the values and morals they instilled in me during my upbringing. Lastly, I want to dedicate this doctoral study to my mentor and friend, Indira, who has been in my life for the last 15 years. She continues to challenge and push me every day to achieve my full potential.

Acknowledgments

The completion of this doctoral study would not have been possible without the assistance and guidance of the committee members. My sincere gratitude goes to the committee chair, Dr. Irene Williams. She displayed exceptional commitment and persistency to guide me to the end of the program. I thank the other committee members, Dr. Edward Paluch and Dr. David Moody, for their critical review and feedback. I am grateful for the student cohort and friends for their encouragement throughout the process. Lastly, I want to acknowledge and thank the participants of my study for their contributions and time.

List of Tables	. iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
Assumptions	6
Limitations	6
Delimitations	7
Significance of the Study	7
Contribution to Business Practice	7
Implications for Social Change	8
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
Application to the Applied Business Problem	10
Conceptual Framework	10
High Reliability in Health Care	21

Table of Contents

Quality in Primary Care	
Quality Improvement Strategies	
Quality Improvement Challenges in Primary Care	
Transition	39
Section 2: The Project	40
Purpose Statement	40
Role of the Researcher	40
Participants	42
Research Method and Design	43
Population and Sampling	44
Ethical Research	46
Data Collection Instruments	47
Data Collection Technique	48
Data Organization Technique	49
Data Analysis	50
Reliability and Validity	52
Reliability	53
Validity	53
Transition and Summary	54
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	55
Introduction	55
Presentation of the Findings	55

Emergent Theme 1: Communication	57
Emergent Theme 2: Leadership Support	60
Emergent Theme 3: Inclusive Decision-Making	62
Emergent Theme 4: Employee Recognition	64
Applications to Professional Practice	66
Implications for Social Change	67
Recommendations for Action	67
Recommendations for Further Research	69
Reflections	70
Conclusion	71
References	73
Appendix: Interview Protocol	97

List of Tables

Table 1.	Description of Sample and Participants Codes	56
Table 2.	Thematic Data Groups	57
Table 3.	References to Communication	58
Table 4.	References to Leadership Support	60
Table 5.	References to Inclusive Decision-Making	62
Table 6.	References to Employee Recognition	64

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Section 1 includes a discussion of the background of the problem, the purpose of the study, the research questions, the significance of the study, the nature of the study, operational definitions of terms, and a comprehensive literature review.

Background of the Problem

The United States spent 17.7% of gross domestic product (GDP) or \$3 trillion in health care expenses in 2014. Health care costs will continue to rise at a 5.3% rate per year, and it is expected to reach a total of 19.6% of the GDP by 2024 (Lee et al., 2016; Martin, Hartman, Benson, & Catlin, 2016). The *iron triangle* guides the economics of health care in the United States, and cost, quality, and care comprise each side of the triangle (Riggs, 2015). Change initiatives in health care focus on addressing all sides by improving quality and care while decreasing cost; however, a high percentage of those change initiatives fail (Donnelly, 2017; Longenecker & Longenecker, 2014; Silver et al., 2016). This high rate of failure in change initiatives suggests the need for research on quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities.

Factors such as poor implementation planning, failure to create buy-in, and ineffective leadership affect implementation of quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities (Longenecker & Longenecker, 2014). In 2014, primary care visits surpassed 461 million and accounted for 52% of the total visits to health care facilities in the United States (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2016). Lee et al. (2016) explained that health care cost is directly related to quality. Therefore, primary care facilities can reduce the overall cost of health care through quality improvement initiatives. The findings of this study will contribute to professional practice by offering senior health care leaders' strategies to successfully manage change and implement quality improvement initiatives that reduce waste and improve patient outcomes in primary care facilities.

Problem Statement

Health care quality in the United States is deeply flawed and lags behind other high-income countries (Avendano & Kawachi, 2014). Improving quality of care is a priority in primary care; however, up to 70% of organizational change initiatives fail (Donnelly, 2017; Silver et al., 2016). The general business problem is the inability of leaders to successfully implement quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The specific business problem is that some leaders of primary care facilities lack strategies for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The target population consisted of health care leaders of three primary care facilities in Southern California who successfully implemented quality improvement initiatives. The implications for positive social change include the potential to develop strategies that primary care leaders may use to implement quality improvement initiatives to increase efficiency, reduce health care cost, and improve patients and community health.

Nature of the Study

Using a qualitative research method for this study provided me the opportunity to explore strategies primary care leaders use to implement quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities. Researchers use qualitative methods when they need an extensive understanding of consumer attitudes, behavior and motivations (Barnham, 2015). Qualitative research manifests participants' experiences through observation and interviews (Yin, 2017). Therefore, it is appropriate that I used this method of research for the study. I rejected a quantitative approach because I did not plan to test a hypothesis. According to Park and Park (2016) and Barnham (2015), quantitative research describes occurrences based on numerical data and hypothesis generation and testing. In addition, mixed methods research includes a quantitative element, which made this method of research also inappropriate for the study.

Barnham (2015) explained several types of qualitative research designs, and for this study, I considered: a) ethnographic, b) phenomenological, and c) case study. An ethnographic study was not appropriate for this study because it focuses on exploring the culture of a group within their specific environment (Renedo & Marston, 2015), and that was not the intent of this study. I also rejected a phenomenological design because the intention was not to inquire about people's perspective of a situation. Tumele (2015) utilized case study design to explore in detail a program, event, or process and develop historical explanations that can be generalized to explain other events. A case study was appropriate for this study because it allowed me to explore successful strategies utilized by primary care leaders during the implementation of quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities.

Research Question

What strategies do some primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities?

Interview Questions

- 1. What has been your experience with implementing quality improvement initiatives?
- 2. What role did you play in the implementation of the quality improvement initiatives?
- 3. How did you communicate the change vision to employees?
- 4. Who was involved in the planning process for the quality improvement initiatives?
- 5. What steps did you follow when implementing the quality improvement initiatives?
- 6. What successful strategies did you use to implement quality improvement initiatives?
- 7. What strategies failed to meet the intended results, and why they were not successful in your opinion?
- 8. How did you overcome the challenges posed by those failed strategies?
- 9. What other comments or additional information would you like to add regarding

strategies used to implement primary care transformation initiatives?

Conceptual Framework

According to Williamsson, Eriksson, and Dellve (2016), primary care leaders must consider various essential steps to implement successful change in an organization. Kotter's (1995) eight-step process developed in 1995 is well-known for successful change management and organizational transformation (Burden, 2016; Pollack & Pollack, 2015); therefore, it offered the appropriate framing for this qualitative study. Kotter's process provided a conceptual structure to explore leadership strategies for implementing quality improvement initiatives because successful changes in clinical practice must be adaptable and dynamic (Burden, 2016). Kotter's process framework may assist primary care leaders in using a systematic and strategic approach to implement organizational change by connecting with people's emotions and enabling employees to identify solutions to possible problems (Burden, 2016).

Operational Definitions

Primary care: Primary care is a patient's first level of care and entry point into the health care system (Amisi & Downing, 2017; Greenfield, Foley, & Majeed, 2016).

Quality improvement initiative: Quality improvement initiative is the series of efforts by health care employees to make changes focused on better patient outcomes, waste reduction, improved performance, and employee development (Gauld et al., 2014; Pendharkar et al., 2016).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Researchers strive for high quality research reporting. Acknowledging assumptions and limitations to interpreting findings appropriately enhances the credibility of the study (Cope, 2014b; Kirkwood & Price, 2013). Delimitations establish boundaries for the study (Welch, 2014). I outline the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of this study in the following subsections.

Assumptions

An assumption refers to something the researcher is unable to confirm but assumes to be true (Nkwake & Morrow, 2016). To adhere to the confidentiality requirements established on the consent form, I assumed that participants' responses to the questions were honest and accurate. In addition, I assumed that participants possessed the knowledge to answer the questions of the study.

Limitations

According to Dennison, Morrison, Conway, and Yardley (2013) and Helmich, Boerebach, Arah, and Lingard (2015), limitations influence the strength of the study because they are weaknesses that researchers cannot control. The first limitation identified in this study was that the sample size of three organizations might not represent organizations in other regions. Another limitation was the participants' personal biases regarding success or failure of quality improvement initiatives. The third limitation was that the results might not transfer to other industries.

Delimitations

Factors that define the scope of the study and establish boundaries are delimitations (Welch, 2014). For this study, there were three areas of delimitations including the environment, the target population, and the geographical location. The purpose of this study was to explore quality improvement initiatives implemented by primary care leaders; therefore, the questions only addressed the initiatives for the implementation and not other administrative requirements in primary care. The sample population possessed specific knowledge on the topic. The study did not include other personnel of the organizations. The geographic location of the study was Southern California.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

According to Kaplan and Witkowski (2014), there are inefficiencies in the health care industry that contribute to waste and the increasing costs of health care, which equaled \$3.2 trillion or 17.8% of the gross domestic product in 2015 (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2017). This study is of value to business practices because it could provide information for primary care leaders to reduce waste and address the escalating costs of care while improving health outcomes. In addition, the contributions to the professional application are strategies that are successful in implementing quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities from the perspective of other primary care leaders.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for primary care leaders to apply successful strategies for implementing quality improvement initiatives and the possible application of these strategies to quality improvement initiatives in other specialties of health care. Swensen, Dilling, Mc Carty, Bolton, and Harper (2013) stated that quality care has negligible waste from inefficiencies, overuse, and preventable harm; therefore, implementation of quality improvement initiatives aligns with the best interest of the patients in any facility. Additionally, improving primary care practice benefits the community by providing access to affordable care to those in need.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored strategies primary care leaders use to implement quality improvement initiatives to increase patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The population consisted of senior health care managers from three primary care facilities located in Southern California, who successfully implemented quality improvement initiatives in their respective organizations. To identify the literature on quality improvement initiatives in primary care, I conducted searches in the Walden Library and Google Scholar for specific keywords connected to the challenges health care managers face in implementing quality improvements.

The keywords used in searching for articles included *quality improvement, waste, total quality management, problem-solving methodologies* and *quality improvement training.* I also focused on the specific industry of study by searching *healthcare, health care,* and *primary care.* The resources found included books, dissertations, and peerreviewed journal articles. The databases that I accessed in collecting this literature were health-related databases and business databases including ProQuest Thesis, ProQuest, ABI/INFORM Complete, CINAHL Plus with full text, EBSCOhost, MEDLINE, SAGE Publications, Science Direct, Health Science, Emerald Management Journals, and Dissertations. There are 93 sources in the literature review section, and 96% of those sources were peer-reviewed and published within 5 years of the anticipated graduation date.

The literature review consists of five main subsections: (a) the conceptual framework, (b) high reliability in health care (c) quality in primary care, (d) quality improvement strategies, and (e) quality improvement challenges in primary care. The conceptual framework for this study was Kotter's eight-step process for implementing change model. The first subsection includes a synthesis of previous research based on Kotter's model. The articles that I reviewed focused on how different health care sectors, including primary care, have been able to apply Kotter's model to quality improvement initiatives. Also, the articles are historical and based on continuous quality improvement.

The second subsection of the literature review is an overview of the concept of high reliability in health care. The third subsection on quality comprises information on high reliability organizations, quality in health care, quality indicators, and the Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) measures. The fourth subsection includes a summary of the existing research on the different strategies for implementation of quality improvement initiatives. The last subsection is a summary of various challenges of implementing change initiatives in primary care facilities.

Application to the Applied Business Problem

Conceptual Framework

I applied Kotter's eight-step model of implementing change to analyze the literature. Kotter's model is used widely for implementing and sustaining change (Hughes, 2016; Pollack & Pollack, 2015). In this section, I describe the model in detail and discuss recent studies focused on change management in health care settings. The eight-step process includes: (a) developing a sense of urgency, (b) creating a guiding coalition, (c) developing a vision and strategy, (d) communicating the change vision, (e) empowering broad-based change, (f) generating short-term wins, (g) consolidating gains and producing more change, and (h) cultivating a culture of change.

The first step in Kotter's model is to create a sense of urgency. A concerted effort in the organization is necessary to propel staff motivation and carry out changes (Kotter, 1995). Kotter (1995) described the importance of leadership engagement in driving a successful change management initiative. At least 75% of the organization's leadership must buy-in for change to be prosperous (Kotter, 1995). In primary care facilities, focusing on quality improvement efforts in areas aligned with patients' interests create leadership and personnel buy-in, which has a positive impact on the organizational bottom line.

In the first step of the model, Kotter (1995) described how the leader allows for complacency where employees desist from status quo and resistance to change. Schwaninger and Scheef (2016) found that employees must feel like they are part of the change and understand why it is necessary for successful change management. This first step is a stage where every person coaches, mentors, and provides feedback to the team to overcome the existing barriers. Sharing information promptly and providing evidence on why change is important in improving quality and reducing waste also alleviates some barriers (Höög, Lysholm, Garvare, Weinehall, & Nyström, 2016). Leaders can increase urgency by mitigating anxiety and stress and ensuring staff members understand the evidence supporting the need for change.

Kotter (1995) emphasized the importance of leadership engagement to achieve most of the elements identified in the management processes. Allahverdyan and Galstyan (2016) described how leaders could make decisions without seeking team opinion in an autocratic leadership culture, especially where there is an emergency and decisions need to happen quickly. However, primary care leaders must embrace a collective leadership culture when aiming at improving the health care quality and reducing waste (Eckert, West, Altman, Steward, & Pasmore, 2014). This cultural shift drives staff members to respond positively to the vision of the organization and help achieve high quality care.

Traditionally, leaders focused more on oversight and inspection of practices and behavior with an aim to find fault where there was little or no guidance on how to improve. Pearce (2015) found that leaders with an authoritarian or hierarchical approach felt responsible for overseeing lower level employees ensuring that they carried out their roles in the right way. The view was that there was no need for motivation and incentives to achieve higher performance. However, Scott, Jiang, Wildman, and Griffith (2018) found that hierarchical structures do not match current expectations of highly skilled employees nor do they facilitate the development of innovative solutions. By creating the right urgency and buy in, employees increase their motivation toward embracing and implementing the needed change.

Kotter (1995) explained how promoting urgency involves using visuals to show what may happen to the organization if change does not occur. Silver et al. (2016) referred to this concept as visual management. The attributes of visual management include transparency, simplicity, and being actionable. Silver et al. (2016) recommended using process control and performance boards to facilitate visual presentations. Primary care leaders could create a higher sense of urgency by using process control and performance boards as tools to communicate potential crises or areas of opportunity.

The second step in Kotter's model is forming a guiding coalition. Kotter (1995) explained that leaders are the focus of the team, which also applies to primary care facilities and other health care organizations. The leadership should be visible in supporting the people within the organization (Silver et al., 2016). Leading by example is a technique leaders can utilize to convince employees of the need to change.

Leading staff is a challenging task in the health care industry. Mount and Anderson (2015) described how leaders are responsible for employees who work in challenging environments, and leaders' response to change management could turn into a defining leadership trait. Suthar, Roy, Call, Besser, and Davis (2014) explained that primary care workers must deliver critical health care services where implementation of complex, longitudinal care interventions occur even if in remote locations. Other leadership tasks include shifting the nonphysician operations of health practitioners to achieve higher results (Delmatoff & Lazarus, 2014). Leading by example is an approach that must reach the primary care employees for successful implementation of change.

Primary care leaders are responsible for making sure that complex care is available. However, staffing shortage is a common challenge in delivering quality of care. Drupsteen, van der Vaart, and Van Donk (2016) argued that leadership should have the right people and sufficient trust to improve the decision-making process. Kotter (1995) suggested that employees form a coalition where they can help each other undertake challenging tasks. Forming a coalition in primary care will help in the change management process.

Kotter (1995) explained that failure in the second step often relates to underestimating the power of the coalition. Sometimes the team members expect executive staff to lead the efforts instead of key line leaders. Kotter also attributed failure to lack of teamwork exposure by leaders, which also creates supervision challenges. Team members must come together to develop a shared commitment to excellence.

Employee supervision is a strategy highly studied and referenced in quality improvement. Drupsteen et al. (2016) described the importance of employee supervision for the successful implementation of change. In health care, the most commonly used terms to refer to supervision include clinical supervision, managerial supervision, supportive supervision or supervision (Ginter, Swayne, & Duncan, 2018). Ginter et al. (2018) stated that the approach makes a difference in the term used. Leaders provide support and appropriate guidance with an aim to help staff become more knowledgeable, competent, and efficient. Mbamalu and Whiteman (2014) explained that by forming a powerful coalition, the leader does not need to supervise the team as each member works to ensure the others excel. In a coalition, the employees avoid traditional hierarchies and work as a team where they can build on urgency and momentum in accepting change (Moraros, Lemstra, & Nwankwo, 2016). Having the right people, developing a common goal, and creating trust are vital for building a coalition. A powerful coalition is essential in establishing a team as well as engaging all primary health care stakeholders in implementing innovative change.

Creating a vision and a strategy for change is the third step in Kotter's model. Kotter (1995) explained that the vision must clarify the direction in which the organization is moving. Leaders must be able to communicate the vision in 3 to 5 minutes, and the vision should go beyond the 5-year plan of the organization (Kotter, 1995). In primary care, a vision to improve quality and reduce waste can lead to high reliability, which also builds a positive organizational reputation.

Driving out waste reduces costs. However, in some instances, leaders view quality improvement as a response to required external accreditation and regulatory agencies (Gassman & Thompson, 2017). Many groups benefit from quality improvement and waste reduction including the patient, employer, and the insurer. In America's health care system, insurances reimburse according to the prospect of underused care, inefficiency, defection, and overuse (Mount & Anderson, 2015). Therefore, a coalition of the primary care workers that build a sustainable vision is necessary to maximize reimbursement opportunities. Primary care leaders must avoid trade-offs between productivity and quality as a right means of removing waste in health care quality because waste and cost differ. For instance, unplanned removing of workers or increasing workload would reduce cost but to erode quality. A systematic removal would add value, as it would streamline the processes to cut costs. Ginter et al. (2018) described how health care leaders have the responsibility to reduce process inefficiencies. Fleming et al. (2017) explained the need to control the underuse or overuse of resources by reducing inefficiency and defective care. Reducing waste is accomplished by streamlining processes to drive away variations and yield return on investment, which is decided upon when developing the right strategy and a vision.

The vision and strategy identification establish a collective leadership culture within the primary care facility as it identifies a shared sense of direction for change in quality development. Leaders face controversies and confusion during the implementation of change (Kotter, 1995). Leaders should be prepared with backup strategies to resolve such issues (Conway-Orgel & Edlund, 2015). For example, primary care leaders must identify the existing gap in training for quality development. Viryansky, Semenov, and Shaposhnikov (2017) described how quality training is essential for formulation and solution of topical problems related to quality. Training provides support and appropriate guidance with an aim to help staff become knowledgeable, more competent, and effective in their work. A clear vision helps motivate health care workers to take the right training and make an effort in the right direction. The fourth step in Kotter's model is to communicate the vision. Kotter (1995) explained that leaders must identify the means of communicating the vision to the team members more frequently to ensure it is fresh in the minds of the implementers. Osatuke and Yanchus (2014) described how the leader's role is critical because leaders can motivate staff to attain the desired results by using the right communication channel to present a compelling vision. Primary care leadership should communicate the change vision effectively due to its importance in guiding the coalition and promoting organizational understanding.

The communication strategy sets up the basis to gain commitment from the staff as well as the leadership in embracing the new direction. According to Kotter (1995), leaders must use all the available means of communication to capture the attention of staff effectively on the need for change. The leadership makes sure that there is adequate communication so that all the stakeholders understand the reasons for the change and agree to commit to achieving it (Kotter, 1995). For an organization to perform maximally, staff members should have a better understanding and common direction to achieve desired goals.

Efficient communication and clear information flow across organizational boundaries characterize quality improvement and reduction in waste. Pollack and Pollack (2015) suggested developing a relationship with the communications department to increase the visibility of the program and use all available channels to deliver the message. Efficient communication and staff motivation to participate in decision-making have a positive effect on the working environment, which improves staff's overall wellbeing (Eckert et al., 2014). Honest and direct expression of the reason to implement change is imperative to improve staff buy-in. By adopting effective communication strategy, primary care employees can understand the message clearly and avoid confusion and alienation of some groups.

Matos Marques Simoes and Esposito (2014) also added that communication is a relevant dimension to implement organizational change successfully. Leaders can communicate the change vision through simplified methods and increased repetition because some stakeholders do not embrace change. Due to high suspicion among team leaders and staff, leaders must convince them that future target would present a better environment than the current one. Lame, Jouini, and Stal-Le Cardinal (2017) suggested using two ways to communicate the vision. The first approach is where the leadership needs to let other stakeholders contribute to the change effort. The second approach is where the other stakeholders should also be allowed to offer suggestions on implementation processes by having open communication and feedback. The continued communication is helpful in supporting those involved in undertaking the needed actions.

Researchers found different methods of communication that change vision in a primary care organization. Using organizational vehicles such as the intranet, informal setting, written communication, large group meetings and email communication to get the message out is particularly effective (Lame et al., 2017). Another method presented by Crouzet, Parker, and Pathak (2014) is using metaphors to explain why the change is important. The intent is to ensure that the change vision becomes parts of everyday activity in a way that it shows their daily operations and promotes existing processes.

Lame et al. (2017) explained how the vision should follow the principles of efficiency, innovative thinking, budget conservation, and honesty. The leadership should be the role model in vision implementation.

The next and fifth step in Kotter's model is empowering broad-based change. Lv and Zhang (2017) found that effective leaders establish a collective leadership culture that empowers staff in the primary care facility. When staff is empowered, they can develop autonomy, which builds trust to complete what they were charged to accomplish (Conway-Orgel & Edlund, 2015; Pollack & Pollack, 2015). Lv and Zhang established how collective leadership culture ensures the continual delivery of quality.

A significant piece of empowerment is to provide primary care workers needed training to adopt change. Hughes (2016) described how employees could get the necessary tools to assess the planning and implementation and conduct self-evaluation of the change process. Longenecker and Longenecker (2014) explained that without employee empowerment, health care quality initiatives fail. On the contrary, through empowerment, primary care organizations can achieve the set goals as clinical administrative staff and health care providers can conduct and use their individual evaluation to improve quality and reduce waste.

When leaders empower the team members to be leaders in their own capacity, they improve program implementation and strengthen the change process as it builds local capacity for strategic planning. Fetterman, Kaftarian, and Wandersman (2015) described how strategic planning with empowered teams is more systematic, quality implemented, self-evaluated. It also enables continuous use of information for quality improvement. According to Pearce (2015), staff members need to be trained to empower other staff to change, and training must focus on new attitude, skills, and behavior, which will embrace change. Leaders need to be engaged in all levels of decision-making processes to feel like part of the change process.

Kotter (1995) suggested that removing obstacles allow employees to take action within the broad parameters of the vision. Leadership in primary care should have an accurate understanding of the barriers that hinder implementation of change. It is an important factor as it helps select a guiding teamwork whose members are from diverse organizational backgrounds characterized by different expertise, credibility, and position (D'Innocenzo, Mathieu, & Kukenberger, 2016; Mathieu, Tannenbaum, Donsbach, & Alliger, 2014). The team to implement change should know how the organization operates and improve the communication with other stakeholders including other nurses, physician, and support staff. Empowerment helps to align the reward system, procedures, structures, organizational processes, and effort to implement the change vision.

Generating short-term wins is the sixth step in Kotter's model of change management. Burden (2016) explained that although some quality improvements may be short-term achievements, they help form the foundation of long-term goals. In implementing the short-term goals, the leadership can get the information needed on the viability of new ideas. Audit and feedback methods are effective in offering support interventions for sustainable quality improvement. Feedback from different levels across the organization is necessary to ensure personnel is responding to the changes (Eckert et al., 2014; Lewis et al., 2015). Feedback includes both positive and negative responses as they help in motivating the teams. Mount and Anderson (2015) described how it is possible to correct methods and strategies used in implementing change by reading the negative feedback. When having a long-term implementation of a vision, the leader can use the feedback in the short term to understand how the implementation is moving to achieve the intended goal.

The seventh step in Kotter's model is consolidating gains and producing more change. In primary care environments, change implementation can be a long endeavor, which is marked by lengthy processes. Pollack and Pollack (2015) stated that leaders need to be capable of running multiple change initiatives simultaneously. By establishing a collective leadership culture, all levels of staff and primary care workers get a clear understanding of their joint mission and deliver continual quality improvement (Lv & Zhang, 2017). Practices must be grounded in the organization's culture for successful change implementation (Kotter, 1995). In a primary care organization, culture establishes shared values among the team, which can powerfully influence health care workers behavior even if the team's membership or leadership changes (Eckert et al., 2014). Therefore, it is imperative to maintain the quality of patient care above many other organizational aims.

The eighth and last step in Kotter's change management model is cultivating a culture of change. In this step, there is the articulation of how the organization will achieve success especially in developing the right environment for ensuring leadership development and succession planning (Kotter, 1995). Kotter (1995) established the importance of the new changes to be well established to become sustainable and part the

organizational culture. Culture is concerned with behaviors and norms as well as shared values (Waterworth et al., 2016). As social forces, they help cement the change implementation where every individual contributes to the organizational goal. It is not a simple task to guide the change, but a strong organizational culture helps guide coalition especially for long-term success.

Reward and recognition policies should incentivize good leadership shown by informal leaders. Leaders must modify reward plans to encourage adoption of the new values and norms, supplemented development, and training practices characterized by competencies and skills related to the implementation of changes (Hughes, 2016; Waterworth et al., 2016). When primary care organizations have a strong leadership culture to consolidate the gains, then they can continue to produce additional and continuous change (Lv & Zhang, 2017). Additionally, continuous improvement goes a long way in achieving reduced waste as all needed changes are implemented to reduce resource wastefulness.

High Reliability in Health Care

Pressure from government agencies, health insurance companies, and health care consumers to improve quality outcomes and reduce waste in health care organizations will continue to drive health care leaders to seek zero harm. According to Tolk, Cantu, and Beruvides (2015), the concept of a high reliability organization (HRO) surfaced in 1981. HROs operate in hazardous environments and use work practices and behavioral procedures to attain excellence and maintain safety (Tolk et al., 2015). Industries like air traffic control, aircraft carriers, and nuclear power plants continue to operate in dangerous

conditions with nearly error-free outcomes (Tolk et al., 2015). Chassin and Loeb (2013) argued that primary care facilities could also achieve high reliability by engaging in change initiatives to improve quality. However, primary care leaders face challenges in pursuing high reliability because a high percentage of the change initiatives in health care organizations fail.

Chassin and Loeb (2013) explained that primary care organizations seeking high reliability must engage in three domains. The three domains are leadership commitment, a culture of safety, and robust process improvement (Chassin & Loeb, 2013). Vogus and Iacobucci explained the connection of high reliability with increasing quality in health care organizations. As organizations seek to deliver failure-free health care services through leadership commitment, a culture of safety, and process improvement, quality will increase (Griffith, 2015). Vogus and Iacobucci (2016) described the limited success in improving quality, and primary care facilities are not exempt from sharing those limitations.

Quality in Primary Care

Primary care refers to the care for patients by physicians who received formal training and possess the necessary skills for first contact and care for patients (Amisi & Downing, 2017). Primary care includes disease prevention, health care maintenance, health promotion, patient education, identification and treatment of chronic and acute diseases in diverse health care conditions (Allenby et al., 2016). This type of care is managed by a personal physician in collaboration with other health care professionals and can utilize consultations and referrals when appropriate (Van Loenen, Faber, Westert, &

Van Den Berg, 2016). Primary care encourages efficient physician-patient communication and inspires the role of the patient as a partner in health care (Kelley, Kraft-Todd, Schapira, Kossowsky, & Riess, 2014). Since primary care provides an entry point into the health care system, improvement of quality and waste reduction contributes to improving the value of health care.

Primary care is a critical tool in reaching objectives constituting the value of the overall health care system as it provides a logical basis for an efficient system. Lee et al. (2016) acknowledged that objectives constituting value in health care include the high quality of care, patient satisfaction, and the effective use of resources in the health care setting. Primary care respects the immediate needs of patients and the sense of responsibility and competence of first contact health care professionals (Fleiszer, Semenic, Ritchie, Richer, & Denis, 2015). Edwards, Bitton, Hong, and Landon (2014) described an efficient health care system as one that involves balancing of patient needs, economic concerns, and environmental costs. It is the core responsibility of the health care practitioners and facilities to provide patients with efficient, appropriate, and humane care.

Quality in primary care refers to providing the right attention to patients at the right time while aiming at the best possible patient outcome and keeping the patient safe from any hazards or harm (Silver et al., 2016; Van Loenen et al., 2016). The primary concern of high quality care should be characterized by the ease of accessibility of services for all while addressing the health needs of patients, provision of widespread services to meet patient needs, and services centered toward the patient rather than the

disease (Bodenheimer, Ghorob, Willard-Grace, Grumbach, & Care, 2014). Additionally, quality care ensures coordination of care for individual patients with a holistic approach integrating psychological, biomedical, and social dimensions as well as a focus on prevention of diseases, promotion of health, and management of established health problems (Abrams et al., 2015; Bodenheimer et al., 2014). Quality improvement in primary care provides an opportunity to focus the care to meet the patient needs.

The World Health Organization (WHO) calls on all countries to strengthen primary health care systems, improve the effectiveness of health care overall, provide better public health, keep health care costs at manageable levels, and provide equality for all to access the appropriate health care while ensuring sustainability of the health care systems (Simou, Pliatsika, Koutsogeorgou, & Roumeliotou, 2015). van den Driessen Mareeuw et al. (2017) reiterated WHO's six dimensions of quality in primary care, and they include care being effective, efficient, accessible, patient-centered, equitable and safe. Simou et al. (2015) explained that to assess performance, WHO implemented quality health indicators of health services. Harris, Green, et al. (2015) described how improvement in the quality of care enhances accountability of managers and health care practitioners, provides resource efficiency, identification, and minimization of medical errors, while maximizing the use of adequate care, improving patient outcomes, and aligning care to specific patient needs. In fact, quality improvement in health care is the core mandate of health care settings (Sibthorpe et al., 2017). Understanding the quality indicators will assist primary care leaders in improving overall quality and maximizing reimbursement opportunities.

Quality Indicators. Indicators are measurable items used as building blocks in the assessment of care. A performance evaluation is fundamental to improvement in the value of primary care and the overall health care (Young, Roberts, & Holden, 2017). Quality health indicators that assess primary care system performance focus on evaluating access, continuity of care, and holistic approach to care with a family and community-based orientation and coordination (Saust, Monrad, Hansen, Arpi, & Bjerrum, 2016; Simou et al., 2015). Therefore, the quality indicators are in reaction to the multidimensional needs of patients and vital in gauging performance in primary care settings.

Leading organizations around the world, such as WHO, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) developed and implemented systems to monitor health and quality health indicators to assess the performance of health services provided at regional, national, and international level (Pavlič, Sever, Klemenc-Ketiš, & Švab, 2015; Simou et al., 2015; van den Driessen Mareeuw et al., 2017). Simou et al. (2015) described how the 2007 National Healthcare Quality Report published 41 indicators for primary care. However, the Practice Partner Research Network (PPRNet) comprises the most useful data for primary care by utilizing an electronic medical record tool named the Accelerating the Translation of Research into Practice (A-TRIP) (Simou et al., 2015). Both systems allow monitoring of quality measures by different agencies or stakeholders of primary care practices.
Prevention quality indicators are a set of quality procedures used in the identification of potential problems in the health care setting, following movements over time, and ascertaining differences across sections, providers, and communities (Manzoli et al., 2014). Primary care focuses on services in preventive care that are helpful for persons to manage chronic illnesses or stay healthy as a result of disease prevention services (Grace et al., 2014). The prevention quality indicators use admission data from health care settings to evaluate instances where preventive services or better management of chronic illnesses could prevent admission cases (Manzoli et al., 2014; Van Loenen et al., 2016). For example, inpatient data could provide admission information for instances where better outpatient services could avoid ambulatory situations. A diabetic patient may be admitted as a result of complications from poor illness monitoring or not getting the necessary education for self-management of the condition. The prevention quality indicators would capture the admission and report the data to different stakeholders.

Several factors contribute to the hospitalization of patients, including lack of observance of the patient treatment regimen and environmental factors. However, prevention quality indicators offer a starting point to evaluate the value of structural aspects of services within communities (Van Den Driessen Mareeuw et al., 2017). Manzoli et al. (2014) explained that prevention quality indicators provide a clear picture of health care by identifying the needs that have not been met, checking how problems are being circumvented in outpatient settings, considering access to health care, and relating the performance of local health care systems within the communities. Prevention quality indicators also represent the present conditions of the health care system and pay particular interest in the ambulatory care, such as the prevention of both chronic diseases and acute illnesses (Manzoli et al., 2014; van den Driessen Mareeuw et al., 2017). Prevention quality indicators are appreciated when calculated at the area or population levels to offer evidence about the possible problems within the community requiring further investigation.

The prevention quality indicators are used in preventing medical difficulties for both, acute ailments, and chronic conditions. Rinke et al. (2015) assessed how the indicators allow comparisons between different areas or regions over time, and they reflect on the quality of care provided in the community. Rinke et al. (2015) also explained how prevention quality indicators possess several strengths, but data users must exercise care when applying these quality indicators because variances in indicators may not clarify some disparities across regions. For example, the association between prevention quality indicators and the socioeconomic status is complex and makes it difficult to determine the quantity of the observed associations relating to access of care issues and other patient features distinct to the quality of care (Rinke et al., 2015). Primary care leaders must use prevention quality indicators with caution to establish disparities among regions.

HEDIS Measures. HEDIS refers to a set of standardized performance measures put in place by National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) allowing comparison across health care settings (Trivedi, Wilson, Charlton, & Kizer, 2016). It is an instrument used by the majority of America's health care entities to quantify the performance on critical dimensions of care. Health plans use HEDIS to identify areas that need improvement in health care (Hu, Schreiber, Jordan, George, & Nerenz, 2018). The crucial health issues measured by HEDIS include the use of medication in asthma, control of high blood pressure, screening of breast cancer, and management of antidepressant medication among others (Hu et al., 2018; Trivedi et al., 2016). Therefore, health care stakeholders utilize the HEDIS measures for various purposes, including reimbursement and quality improvement.

Health care plans use data from HEDIS and their results to improve quality of care and ensure quality in primary care (Trivedi et al., 2016). As states and the national government move toward a health care sector focused on quality, HEDIS rates become more significant for health care plans and individual service providers (Harris, Ellerby, et al., 2015; Robst, Rost, & Marshall, 2013). The purchasers of health care services make use of these scores in the evaluation of health insurance industries and primary health care settings in making their medical decisions. The rates, therefore, act as the foundation for profiling of primary care physician as well as the choice of incentive programs.

DeVoe et al. (2015) explained how calculations for HEDIS rates derive from hybrid or administrative data. Claims or encounters data submitted to the health care plans comprises the administrative statistics, and the measures in this category include annual chlamydia screening, annual mammogram, annual Pap test among others (DeVoe et al., 2015; Harris, Ellerby, et al., 2015). Hybrid data, on the other hand, consists of both, medical record and administrative data. DeVoe et al. explained that records require an analysis of a randomly selected sample, or claims end up not including abstract data received for the medical records. In addition, the data in this category includes comprehensive diabetes care, immunizations, prenatal care, and childcare among others (DeVoe et al., 2015). The data accuracy allows primary care leaders to establish improvement goals.

HEDIS offers benefits to various stakeholders of primary care facilities. For example, HEDIS is beneficial to the health care participants due to its ability to address consumer interests regarding quality assessment data (Pawlson, Scholle, & Powers, 2007; Trivedi et al., 2016). Additionally, it is considered and recognized in the U.S. as a secure method used for quality assessment in health care settings (Trivedi et al., 2016). HEDIS measures ensure quality in primary care since it provides for national data comparisons and aid in the subsequent health care decisions by the various users of information.

HEDIS contains more than 40 different standardized administrative and clinical performance measures (NCQA, 2018). Origination of performance benchmarks for the various outcomes or quality processes in the health care setting follows the data derived from different health care plans. Therefore, the measures have a significant role in closing the gaps in the care of patients and reducing expensive acute care using preventive services (Rosenthal, Sinaiko, Eastman, Chapman, & Partridge, 2015). The standards focus on quality improvement and value-based care across health care establishments, thus holding a critical place in helping health care providers achieve objectives related to positive patient outcome and high standards of care.

Quality under the Health Care Reform. Lawmakers implemented the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) with the aim of expanding health care coverage to all Americans by containing costs and improving quality of care. Although the act faced severe criticism during its implementation, it provided coverage for more than 20 million people, the health care costs declined, and the value of care following the enactment of the health reforms improved (Orszag, 2016). Shaw, Asomugha, Conway, and Rein (2014) explained that PPACA contains provisions on the improvement of efficiency and quality of the health care system as well as testing new ways for delivery and payment of health care services. According to Abrams et al. (2015), an integral part of the act is performance measurement and an assessment for evaluation of how good the provision of care is, which is useful in public reporting programs, value-based purchasing, payment reforms, and quality improvement. The law covers the strategies aimed at strengthening primary care, accelerating adoption of health information technology, and supporting patient and clinical decisions through the use of the available evidence-based information.

Infrastructure for measurement of performance in the act strengthens support efficiency, quality improvement, delivery reform, and payment. Burwell (2015) explained how the act mandates that the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) implement a national strategy for growth and delivery of quality in health care. The HHS designed a template to guide agencies in the development of quality strategic plans to create consistency across the plans and ensure alignment with the National Quality Strategy, and various pilot programs already demonstrated some success (Goerlich Zief & Cole, 2016; Quraishi & Jordan, 2015). Additionally, HHS identified gaps in quality processes to fund the development of steps necessary to fill those gaps by prioritizing care coordination, health results, shared decision making, functional status, disparities, and efficiency (Burwell, 2015). Performance measurement will continue to promote quality of care.

PPACA has made remarkable headway in resolving the long-standing problems that had been facing U.S. health care arrangement concerning access, quality, and affordability. Advancing Honest and Ethical Medical Research (AHRP) through the Center for Quality Improvement and Patient Safety plays a critical role in ensuring quality in the health reform by conducting and supporting research and development of the best practices (Blumenthal, Abrams, & Nuzum, 2015). From the time the act passed as law, the rates of uninsured have dropped from 16% in 2010 to 9.1% in 2015 leading to an estimated decline of 43% to include a decrease of 5.5% of non-elderly adults with the inability to access care (Obama, 2016). These advances show the act's effectiveness in improving quality in primary care.

Quality Improvement Strategies

Quality improvement in primary care practices is essential for enhancing the health level of the population. Enhancement of patient experiences and outcomes, improvement of the services of the provider, and reduction of per capita expenses are paramount steps in quality improvement strategies (Harvey & Lynch, 2017). Quraishi and Jordan (2015) described how the efforts made to create quality in health care systems have seen health providers, insurers, quality improvement organizations, and delivery systems engage in primary care safety and performance. Primary care leaders looking to improve quality in their organization must focus on efficient quality improvement and safety strategies.

Primary care practices should use quality improvement orientations, which seek continuous improvement of the outcomes of patients and their performances. Abdallah (2014) described orientation as one of the drivers of quality initiatives because it guides primary care practices in setting priorities in areas requiring improvement of the strategies to achieve quality improvement goals. Quality improvement efforts will determine the specific areas of practice to address, and the methods that will be used to deal with the particular issues. The choice of practices and the methods used to improve these aspects will vary based on the facility, circumstances, and the resources allocated for the exercise (Van der Biezen, Derckx, Wensing, & Laurant, 2017). Typical areas that need improvement include identification of patients, monitoring and following up of patients with diabetes, and ensuring growth in delivery of recommended prevention services for all patients.

Quality improvement in primary care is a new activity to many health care facilities. The need to utilize new skills to meet quality improvement goals is essential (Renedo & Marston, 2015). The methods to improve quality include identification of areas for improvement, studying the available data to understand current situations in health care practices, planning and initiating change, and monitoring the performances through time. Silver et al. (2016) described the need to use performance boards to display a commitment to quality improvement. Solberg et al. (2014) explained how external support might be required while undertaking a quality improvement strategy. The additional support can assist in carrying out quality improvement.

Stakeholders in health care, the private, and governmental sectors should participate in providing support for implementing changes in the quality of primary care. External support within the hospital setup can efficiently assist primary care practitioners by providing work facilitation and coaching (Scott et al., 2017). External facilitators help the primary care practitioners to improve their approach toward quality improvement and developing skills. Hudson et al. (2014) described how external facilitators also provide expertise and quality improvement tools, thus enabling the participants to troubleshoot challenges and barriers to implementing quality improvement in primary care. Coaching allows the practitioners to adapt to the new ways of doing business (Crouzet et al., 2014). Facilitation and coaching assist primary care leaders in developing internal capacity for activities related to quality improvement.

Peer-to-peer mentoring and consultation by experts provide primary care practitioners with knowledge from experts outside their sphere of activity. Lessard et al. (2016) explained how such experience facilitates new implementations in the facility. In addition, benchmarking and the provision of feedback to the primary care practice allow obtaining the information on quality improvement performance in comparison with regional and national averages, which are essential in achieving quality improvement (Simou et al., 2015). Feedback data will assist the teams in processing information on important indicators of processes and the outcomes regarding services, costs, experience, and patient quality. Health care plans should create a community in which stakeholders and practitioners can share learning experiences. The community strengthens the culture of continuous quality improvement (Thomas, 2017). In addition, Makary and Daniel (2016) indicated how communities and entities would support quality improvement in primary care by sharing best practices, lessons learned, challenges encountered, and enhancing inspiration. Having a sense of community rather than individual practices allows other organizations to lead parallel initiatives for health and care in the same area.

Lean Strategies. Primary care systems adopted different strategies to accelerate improvement in quality. Lean is a continuous process improvement methodology that aims to reduce activities that do not add value to the primary care facility (Ha et al., 2016). Leaders use this strategy to reduce mistake proofing tasks and focus on the elimination of wastes to improve the delivery of care (Gavriloff, Ostrowski-Delahanty, & Oldfield, 2017). Lean strategies assist in creating change in workflows, handoffs, and long-term processes. Following a Lean strategy enhances the effectiveness of the clinic by changing processes to accommodate the patients who require longer appointment time ensuring the involvement of allied health staff to develop previsit dates, follow-ups, and outreaching.

Primary care leaders should adopt principles of lean strategies to effectively reduce waste and improve efficient care delivery. Ha et al. (2016) and Moraros et al. (2016) explained that the process of determining which practices add value to the delivery of primary care is achieved by considering both external and internal perspectives. For example, patients may value reduced phone time, whereas primary care providers may value taking time to know all the information available during appointments. Leaders should identify the activities that contribute to quality because practices that do not fall in this realm are wasteful.

Streamlining the flow of activities and information by practice leaders follows identification of non-value and value-added operations. The streamlining activities will ensure smooth flow of services (Hudson et al., 2014). Using a pilot program will allow leaders to test the improved process for a specified period (Kaplan & Witkowski, 2014). Primary care leaders can use the pilot program to identify lessons learned and make changes to fit the intention of the process and improve quality.

Six Sigma Principles. The Six Sigma approach is a quality improvement management strategy that seeks to improve efficiency (Abdallah, 2014). While Lean strategies focus on process efficiency and waste reduction, the Six Sigma principles focus on reducing process variation (Basta et al., 2016; Ha et al., 2016). Proper use of the approach allows identifying and removing defects as well as minimizing variability in business processes (Basta et al., 2016). Six Sigma creates a unique infrastructure of persons within the primary care organization who are experts in improving quality and reducing waste.

Six Sigma improves the quality of primary care through analyzing practices and making changes. The initiative defines and measures process indicators, analyzes statistics, and develops the right method and plans based on the results acquired (Gavriloff et al., 2017; Young et al., 2017). For example, to improve coordination between physicians for primary care and diabetic specialists, the strategy will reduce

unnecessary appointments and time wasted on seeking specialists. Primary care leaders must ensure data analysis drives Six Sigma interventions.

Developing a quality improvement strategy is necessary for implementation success. Six Sigma has five principles to establish a quality improvement strategy for primary care (Abdallah, 2014; Basta et al., 2016). The principles are (a) define, (b) measure, (c) analyze, (d) improve, and (e) control, also known as the DMAIC roadmap. In, the *define* principle, health care managers identify the problem, define goals, and clarify boundaries (Improta et al., 2015). Specification of the necessary input required to enhance the quality of primary care is also specified.

After defining the process and outcome to be improved, leaders must track the primary care quality improvement performance of the practice by collecting data. Data collection in primary care can be captured using the electronic health record (Hudson et al., 2014). Other methods include surveys and observation. Once the data collection is complete, primary care leaders must analyze the data to obtain a baseline before initiating new processes. Reviewing the data first helps primary care leaders in identifying the problems and causes of the lack of quality of the practice.

Primary care leaders use the results of the data analysis to establish improvements to the practice. Improvement strategies may require different methodologies depending on the organization (Ha et al., 2016). However, by using the Six Sigma approach, leaders have a framework that will allow for prompt identification of the desired outcomes. Lee et al. (2016) demonstrated that success of a Six Sigma approach depends on the ability to obtain data, to process, and to provide results. The last principle is control, and it

involves monitoring improvements in primary care and taking appropriate measure to maintain the standard.

Quality Improvement Challenges in Primary Care

Primary health care systems face similar challenges throughout the United States. A primary concern of the health systems pertains to the ways of improving the quality of care delivered by general practitioners. Gauld et al. (2014) explained that policymakers have put in place quality outcome programs and strategies to enhance the quality of primary care. An example of such approaches is offering incentives to general practitioners if they meet the specified outcome metrics. The general practitioners may be awarded additional reimbursement if they manage to lower blood pressure of hypertensive patients to normal range. These programs have been successful in improving scores of specific metrics; however, it does not reflect the overall improvement in the general practitioners' quality of service (Doran, Maurer, & Ryan, 2017). The lack of reliable information to guide the implementers of quality care in gauging the relative quality of services related to primary care is also a concern. Consensus about what constitutes the best quality metrics for quality care is still low.

Primary care leaders also face challenges when integrating primary care with the rest of the health care system. General practitioners act as the gatekeepers of health systems and are typically required to coordinate with other departments delivering care to patients (Greenfield et al., 2016; Hickner et al., 2014). Gatekeeping policies balance clinical needs, patient choice, and system constraints. Despite the role of the general practitioners in connecting with other health providers, few health systems have such a

channel of communication that would enable the general practitioners to deliver care efficiently.

Health care organizations do not always need change as some result in unnecessary or adverse effects (Kouzes, Posner, & Morgan, 2014). The staff has to spend a great deal of energy and time in implementing unnecessary change that lacks their interest. For this reason, the leaders should have well calculated and designed plan for change to avoid such result (Baker, 2001). It is also important to foster the right culture in health organizations to ensure that the staff and the team offer respected, kind, and high-quality medical services. Eckert et al. (2014) found that culture-sensitive leadership sets the basis for collective leadership. Leaders should be able to identify and develop modeling behaviors, supporting investments, accurate feedback, timely shared responsibility, developing the individual and team coaching, evidence-based assessment, engaging all levels of staff and establishing vision and trust.

Change is not always welcome. Not a single type of leadership or process can overcome all barriers in its implementation (Belias & Koustelios, 2014; Lines, Sullivan, Smithwick, & Mischung, 2015). Therefore, an organization needs to identify which process works best for it. Kotter's eight-step process can formulate a well-designed plan, integrate improvement, assess performance, communicate, and empower the staff and develop efficient strategies. By having an abled leadership culture, change implementation can ensure that services are of high quality and reduced waste in primary health care organizations.

Transition

Section 1 contained a discussion of the historical background and the problem statement. In the purpose of the study, I provided information on how the study could affect the implementation of quality improvement initiatives in a primary care setting. Section 1 also contains information on the research questions, the significance of the study, and the qualitative nature of the study. Additionally, I provided an in-depth review of the professional and academic literature to include the conceptual framework utilized as the lens for review of the data collected.

Section 2 includes an introduction to the qualitative method and research design selected for the study and the criteria for the participant population and sampling. The ethical research techniques encompassed the process to acquire participants' consent, instructions to withdraw from the study, and methods to protect the data over a required timeframe. In addition, I discussed my role as a researcher, procedures for data collection, reliability, validity, and data analysis.

Section 2: The Project

Section 1 contained evidence that leaders of primary care facilities require implementation strategies for quality improvement initiatives. Section 2 comprises the project plan of the study, and it begins with a restatement of the purpose of the study. The plan also includes the research method and design, and the role of the researcher. In addition, Section 2 contains a discussion of research methods, data collection, analysis, and validity and reliability.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The target population consisted of health care leaders of three primary care facilities in Southern California who successfully implemented quality improvement initiatives. The implications for positive social change include the potential to develop strategies that primary care leaders may use to implement quality improvement initiatives to increase efficiency, reduce health care cost, and improve patients and community health.

Role of the Researcher

My role as a researcher was to act as the primary data collection instrument. In this role, I collected the data using semistructured interviews. I conducted the interviews using open-ended questions. To conduct the interviews, I utilized an interview protocol to have consistency during each interview. According to Yin (2017), interview protocols allow researchers to question participants in a systematic and comprehensive manner. In addition, researchers can use interview protocols to develop a conversation within a subject area in a conversation style (Yin, 2017).

As a researcher, I must be transparent regarding my experience with the research topic to alleviate personal bias. Presently, I work in the health care field as an administrator. In my current role, I work as a fiscal officer of a medium size federal hospital. My relationship to the research topic is by working in the health care field. In addition, Chapman, Kaatz, and Carnes (2013) stated that researchers mitigate bias by documenting them in the study. Besides using a qualitative data analysis software, I also utilized bracketing, triangulation, and member checking to mitigate my bias.

According to Anneli, Kiikkala, and Astedt-Kurki (2015), a researcher may alleviate bias by recognizing preconceived notions about the research topic, which is also known as bracketing. Dempsey, Dowling, Larkin, and Murphy (2016) explained that bracketing allows the researchers to set aside their understandings and assumptions in an effort to allow the phenomenon to speak. The second tool previously mentioned, triangulation, assisted me in analyzing data from more than one source. To facilitate that analysis, I collected additional documents from the facilities to gather information on the primary care quality core measures. Lastly, member checking is a technique to enhance the validity of the study by sharing a summary of the initial interpretations with the participants (Elo et al., 2014). I used this technique to identify misinterpretations.

The Belmont Report provides researchers ethical standards for conducting research studies. Those standards include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016). Following the Belmont Report, I maintained the confidentiality of participant responses and anonymity of the study findings. Additionally, because the participants were voluntary, they were able to withdraw from the study at any time they desired. Celie and Prager (2015) explained how the Institutional Review Board (IRB) upholds the moral scope of research; therefore, I supported beneficence and justice by ensuring I received IRB approval before I contacted the participants of the study. The IRB approval number was 06-25-18-0473892.

Participants

Selecting the appropriate participants is an important step in qualitative research (Palinkas et al., 2015). Yin (2017) described the importance of developing eligibility criteria to identify participants that have the proper experience and knowledge to answer the research question. According to Conte (2014), utilizing participants who meet the eligibility criteria assists researchers in producing a trustworthy research study. For this study, I conducted a semistructured interview with a senior health care manager from each of the primary care facilities. The eligibility criteria for the senior health care manager consisted of (a) being 21 years of age or older, (b) being employed by a primary care facility in Southern California, and (c) having experience with successful implementation of quality improvement initiatives in primary care.

Gaining access to participants may appear as an easy task; however, Peticca-Harris, DeGama, and Elias (2016) discussed the difficulties of securing participants for dissertation studies. To alleviate some of those challenges, I utilized publicly available information from the Internet and company websites to identify senior health care managers that have implemented successful quality improvement initiatives. According to Gagnon, Jacob, and McCabe (2015), building a relationship with participants allows researchers to acquire more in-depth data. Therefore, I requested their participation through email invitations and built relationships through constant communication to provide additional details of the study.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Using a qualitative research method for this study provided me the opportunity to explore strategies health care leaders use to implement primary care quality improvement initiatives. Researchers use qualitative methods when they require extensive understanding of consumer attitudes, behavior and motivations (Barnham, 2015). The goal of qualitative research is to capture and communicate participants' experiences through observation and interviews (Yin, 2017). Therefore, it was appropriate to use this method of research for the study. I rejected a quantitative approach because I was not testing a hypothesis. Park and Park (2016) and Barnham (2015) described how quantitative research explains occurrences based on numerical data and hypothesis generation and testing. In addition, mixed methods research includes a quantitative element, which made this method of research inappropriate for the study.

Research Design

Barnham (2015) described several types of qualitative research designs, and for this study, I considered: a) ethnographic, b) phenomenological, and c) case study designs. An ethnographic study was not appropriate for this study because it focuses on exploring the culture of a group within their specific environment (Renedo & Marston, 2015), and that was not the intent of this study. I also rejected a phenomenological design because the intent was not to inquire about people's perspective of a situation. Tumele (2015) utilized case study design to explore in detail a program, event, or process and develop historical explanations that can be generalized to explain other events. A case study was appropriate for this study because it allowed me to explore successful strategies utilized by primary care leaders during the implementation of quality improvement initiatives.

To achieve data saturation, researchers must reach a point of conceptual depth that allows them to theorize (Nelson, 2016). Although the number of participants in my study was limited to three primary care facilities, I utilized participants who had the breadth of knowledge and experience to address the research questions. In addition, I continued to review documents until no new themes emerged from the study data.

Population and Sampling

Researchers conducting qualitative research use purposeful sampling to identify participants rich in information (Palinkas et al., 2015). Elo et al. (2014) and Malterud, Siersma, and Guassora (2015) explained that sample sizes for qualitative studies could be small when the study aim is narrow, and the analysis includes longitudinal in-depth exploration. Nelson (2016) added that sample size should not focus on the number of participants, but in the depth of the data; therefore, I emphasized on the concept of data saturation. Nelson (2016) described data saturation as the point where no additional themes emerge from the data. I used this concept as a tool to determine if there was a need for additional participants for the study. Current guidelines for thematic analysis in qualitative research suggest a sample of two to 10 participants for finding sufficient themes of the desired prevalence (Fugard & Potts, 2015). The population of this study consisted of three senior health care managers from primary care facilities in Southern California who have successfully implemented quality improvement initiatives. The eligibility criteria for the senior health care manager consisted of (a) being 21 years of age or older, (b) being employed by a primary care facility in Southern California, and (c) having experience with successful implementation of quality improvement initiatives in primary care. Morse, Lowery, and Steury (2014) described how purposive sampling provides an opportunity to select participants who meet the criteria to answer the interview questions. Elo et al. (2014) also added that researchers interested in participants who have the most knowledge on the research topic could use purposive sampling. Utilizing purposive sampling was appropriate for this study because I selected a specific group of participants to seek specific knowledge.

I sent email invitations to prospective participants. Once the potential participants responded with interest in the study, I made appointments to conduct the semistructured interviews. The interview location and space play an important role in the research process, and it requires critical reflection from the researcher (Gagnon et al., 2015). I conducted the interview where the participant felt comfortable and was able to focus on the interview questions.

Ethical Research

Researchers utilizing human participants in research studies must comply with ethical rules and regulations (Abernethy et al., 2014). The Belmont Report provides researchers ethical standards for conducting research studies, and the standards include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016). The IRB ensures that research studies do not put participants at undue risk and that participants give their informed consent (Abernethy et al., 2014). Before I contacted the participants and collected data for the study, I sought IRB approval to meet the board guidelines and comply with the Belmont Report ethical standards. Once I received IRB approval, I contacted the participants by email. The IRB approval number was 06-25-18-0473892. Participants then signed the informed consent indicating their agreement to participate in the study.

Aaltonen (2017) discussed ethical reasons for seeking informed consent from the participants. To start collecting data, I pursued gaining informed consent from each of the participants of the study. According to Tam et al. (2015), the informed consent should include information such as the purpose of the study, voluntary participation, confidentiality, and the freedom to withdraw at any time. I met with each participant to explain the components of the informed consent and got the participant's signature. Abernethy et al. (2014) also stated that the informed consent must explicitly state that participants may withdraw from the study at any time. During my meeting with the participants, I explained that withdrawal from the study may occur at any time during the

study through email, phone, or in person. I also informed them that they were not receiving compensation for their participation in the study.

Confidentiality or anonymity minimizes risks to participants of research studies (Vitak, Shilton, & Ashktorab, 2016). To preserve the confidentiality of the participants, researchers suggest utilizing pseudonyms or false names throughout the study (Allen & Wiles, 2015). Allen and Wiles (2015) discussed various methods to assign pseudonyms for each participant. I used alphanumeric codes such as P1, P2, and P3 to maintain confidentiality and abide by ethical standards. I am the only person able to connect the codes to the identities of the participants. I retained the electronic documents from the interviews in password protected files on my computer. All the paperwork that I gathered during the study will remain in a locked cabinet in my home office. I will destroy the electronic files and shred the documents 5 years after completion of the study as required by Walden University.

Data Collection Instruments

Data collection may include one-to-one interviews, focus group studies, mail surveys, and audiotaped interviews (Sutton & Austin, 2015). According to Doody and Noonan (2013), structured interviews are the most common types of interviews in qualitative studies. Because I was the primary data collection instrument, I conducted semistructured interviews (Appendix A) that consisted of nine open ended questions to guide the interviews. All responses were audio recorded for documentation purposes. Using open-ended questions allows the participants to explain their experience and how the world makes sense around them (Barnham, 2015). In addition, open-ended questions permit researchers to present the participants' experiences without predetermined standpoints.

Asking participants the same set of questions promotes consistency and increases reliability and validity of the study (Barnham, 2015). I asked the same open-ended questions about implementation strategies that senior health care managers need for quality improvement initiatives to each of the participants. I also obtained documents from the participants after they signed the informed consent and document release form. The documents were related to communication of the quality improvement initiative in the organization.

Barnham (2015) stated that techniques for producing data affect the credibility of a qualitative study. Member checking is one of those techniques, and it is used to share a summary of the initial interpretations of the data collected with the participant to identify misinterpretations (Elo et al., 2014). I completed the summary of the audio records, and then provided the documents within 1 week of the interview to the participants for easy recollection of the interview.

Data Collection Technique

Semistructured interviews are the most common type of interviews, and they involve using predetermined questions (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Conducting this type of interview has advantages for data collection. First, researchers can be flexible and use open-ended questions for data saturation. In addition, interviewers can ask additional questions if a new path not initially considered emerges during the interview (Doody & Noonan, 2013). A clear disadvantage of conducting face-to-face interviews is that researchers may encounter difficulties scheduling a time that is beneficial for all. For this study, I conducted semistructured interviews to collect data from health care managers. Sutton and Austin (2015) recommended researchers audio record interviews to transcribe recordings verbatim; therefore, I also audio recorded each of the interviews for the study.

To arrange the interviews, I obtained contact information of health care managers via publicly available information through company's website. I contacted those health care managers, and I scheduled the interviews when they agreed to participate. I chose a convenient date, time, and location for the participants, and I requested for a minimum of 60 minutes to complete the interview. The interview protocol (Appendix A) guided the interview. Elo et al. (2014) stated that member checking enhances validity and trustworthiness of the study. Once the transcription was complete, I utilized member checking for this study.

Triangulation involves utilizing multiple methods to collect and analyze data, and an advantage of this method is that it enhances the reliability of results (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Fusch and Ness (2015) argued that researchers are unable to capture all the important data from one single method; however, it is important to understand that a disadvantage of triangulation is that it may also provide conflicting results or information. I requested documents from the participants who did consent to release documents. Correlating the data from multiple sources ensured data was rich in depth.

Data Organization Technique

Confidentiality is essential to minimize the risk of participants (Vitak et al., 2016). Allen and Wiles (2015) suggested using pseudonyms or false names throughout

the study to preserve anonymity. Therefore, I used alphanumeric codes to abide by ethical standards. The codes I used were P1, P2, and P3 since there were three participants. I also ensured the participants did not use their name during the audio recorded sessions of the interviews to maintain confidentiality. In addition, I created a file for each participant to keep his or her informed consent, interview transcripts, and any other documentation.

I utilized Microsoft Office to transcribe the interviews and organize and label the data using the pseudonym. The data went into NVivo data analysis software to summarize the data by developing themes and categories for data organization. The data will remain secure on a password protected laptop computer and a private cloud data storage account accessible only to the researcher. As required by Walden University, the data will stay secure for five years. After the five year requirement expires, the paper and electronic documents will be destroyed or erased.

Data Analysis

This study involved various sources of data, which included interviews and documents from participating organizations. Fusch and Ness (2015) described how data triangulation requires using multiple sources of data to enhance confidence and reliability in the results of the study. The four types of triangulation are (a) data triangulation, (b) investigator triangulation, (c) theory triangulation, and (d) methodological triangulation (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Data triangulation refers to utilizing multiple sources during the study, and these sources may vary depending on location and time of collection (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Joslin & Müller, 2016). Investigator triangulation is using at least more than

one person in the data gathering and analysis process (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The third type, theory triangulation, refers to approaching the data with several theories in mind to increase the opportunities to produce additional knowledge (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Turner, Cardinal, & Burton, 2017). The last and most commonly used type of data triangulation is methodological triangulation (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Methodological triangulation allows researchers to use multiple approaches to analyze a research problem. Two categories of the methodological triangulation are (a) within-method triangulation and (b) across- or between-method triangulation (Joslin & Müller, 2016; Turner et al., 2017). For this study, I utilized a methodological triangulation to analyze data collected from interviews and company documentation.

The five phases of data analysis in qualitative studies include compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting and concluding (Essary, 2014; Santos & Baptista, 2016; Tuapawa, 2017). Essary (2014) suggested compiling the data immediately after the interview to ensure participants can clarify information if necessary. Once I compiled the data, I disassembled or broke down the data into smaller pieces. According to Tuapawa (2017), themes emerge from keywords and patterns when researchers disassemble the data. In the reassembling stage, researchers identify themes and patterns (Essary, 2014). After identification of themes for coding, I completed the data interpretation and engaged the participants to conduct member checking. According to Elo et al. (2014), member checking is the process of reviewing the summary of the data interpretation. I used member checking to ensure I derived appropriate meaning. According to Zamawe (2015), qualitative studies generate an extensive amount of data in the form of text; therefore, it is important to be aware of Computer Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software (CAQDAS). The data analysis package I used for this study was NVivo. CAQDAS helps researchers reduce the amount of time and labor due to its ability to manage sizable transcripts and ease for coding, adding notes, and removing data (Cope, 2014a). Using NVivo helped the researcher stay organized and focused on the research question.

I grouped the data by identifying recurring words or phrases, and I developed codes by arranging responses and company documents into themes of similar phrases or ideas. I continued by interpreting the data and validating the interpretations through member checking. The data interpretation identified central themes and ensured alignment with the conceptual framework. I analyzed the data through the lens of Kotter's eight-step process of change theory.

Reliability and Validity

Results from research must be credible and generate useful learning. Trustworthiness and quality of the study increase when researchers adhere to sound methodological practice (Leung, 2015; Nelson, 2016). In addition, trustworthiness during the data collection process is essential for reliability. The four criteria to establish the trustworthiness and rigor of a study are dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013).

Reliability

Dependability. Dependability establishes the study as repeatable and consistent, which allows researchers to replicate the results. Houghton et al. (2013) compared dependability to the concept of reliability and described it as how stable the data are. According to Noble and Smith (2015), consistency during the semistructured interview improves the credibility of the study. Therefore, I ensured dependability of the study by asking each participant the same set of questions in order.

Validity

Credibility. Houghton et al. (2013) established that conducting research in a believable manner establishes credibility. They also explained how using member checking addresses the credibility of the interpretation. Member checking is a process of asking participants to review the interpretations to ensure the researcher captured the intent of the responses. This technique refers to the process when the researcher provides a summary of themes and requests feedback from the participants. Participants validate the information if the researcher interprets the data correctly (Cope, 2014b). As a way to ensure credibility, I used the member checking technique to verify the accuracy of the responses.

Transferability. Transferability allows findings to be transferred to a similar situation or setting (Houghton et al., 2013). Researchers must provide detailed descriptions of the original context of the research to allow readers to make informed decisions about the transferability of the study (Houghton et al., 2013). I included rich

details of the context of this study so that readers can determine if the results are transferable.

Confirmability. Confirmability refers to the accuracy of the data. Noble and Smith (2015) also referred to confirmability as neutrality. The process of establishing confirmability assimilates the process to establish dependability of the study (Houghton et al., 2013). I utilized member checking in this study to enhance confirmability.

Data saturation occurs when no new themes materialize from the interview (Nelson, 2016). Malterud et al. (2016) discussed the impact of sample sizes in qualitative research. Researchers can achieve data saturation with the least number of participants when the study aim and dialogue with the participants is strong (Malterud et al., 2016). In addition, Nelson (2016) explained the importance of utilizing participants that have extensive knowledge to address the research question. I continued the interviews until no new themes emerged, and I achieved data saturation.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 encompassed a description of the research method and research design. In this section, I discussed the population and sampling, data collection instrument, data collection procedures, and data analysis utilized for this study. In section 3, I will focus on presenting the study results and recommendations. I will include a discussion of the presentation of the findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, and recommendations for further research. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. According to Nuckols et al. (2017) and Snowden et al. (2017), researchers studied quality improvement initiatives in various types of health care organizations; however, in this study, I focused on quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities in Southern California. I collected data by conducting semistructured face-to-face interviews with three health care managers from three different primary care facilities. I applied qualitative data analysis to the transcripts and document review to address the overarching research question. Using methodological triangulation, four major themes emerged from the data analysis process. The themes identified were (a) communication, (b) leadership engagement, (c) inclusive decision-making, and (d) recognition.

Presentation of the Findings

The principal research question that guided the study was: What strategies do some primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities? I recorded and transcribed interviews with three senior health care managers from primary care facilities in Southern California. Participants had experience implementing quality improvement initiatives. I derived the findings from the data analysis of interviews and document review. I used Microsoft Word to transcribe the audio-recorded data and organize the data. I accessed a public website containing HEDIS data for review of quality scores for each of the primary care facilities compared to national averages. I used NVivo data analysis software to organize and analyze the data.

Table 1 is a description of the sample. The health care managers participating in this multiple case study had a range in length of health care leadership experience between 3 and 19 years in duration. I used the codes P1 to P3 to mask the participants' identities in the order I completed the interviews as demonstrated in Table 1. Throughout the data collection and data analysis phase of the research, I used Microsoft Word and NVivo computer software to assist in data organization and data analysis, using the participants' codes instead of real names in the data to maintain confidentiality.

Table 1

Participants	Years as health care leader
Participant 1	19
Participant 2	18
Participant 3	3

Description of Sample and Participants Codes

The subsections below include detailed information regarding how the four major themes emerged from the data triangulation of the interviews and documents review. Data analysis involved the identification of the common key terms that represented patterns among the qualitative data. Table 2 contains a summary of the main key terms that formed patterns for the major themes. These major themes provide answers to the research question and relate to the successful implementation of quality improvement initiatives in primary care.

Table 2

Thematic Data Groups

Major Themes	Key Terms of Phrases
Theme 1: Communication	meeting, call, information,
	communication, face-to-face, email
Theme 2: Leadership Support	lead, champion, management,
	accountable, authority
Theme 3: Inclusive Decision-Making	team, staff, involved, feedback, roles,
-	providers, contribute
Theme 4: Employee Recognition	accolades, recognize

Emergent Theme 1: Communication

Communication emerged as a theme from the semistructured interviews and documents provided by the participants. The data analysis of the interviews revealed that communication is an important component of implementing quality improvement initiatives. Baxter et al. (2016) discussed how developing effective horizontal and vertical communication pathways prior to change implementation promote team collaboration, effectiveness, and efficiency. Table 3 includes the key terms participants used to refer to communication. Participants mentioned communication key terms a total of 99 times during the interviews.

Table 3

Reference	Frequency
Meeting	34
Call	27
Information	12
Communication	11
Email	8
Face-to-face	7

References to Communication

Participants described vertical communication as a key element of successful quality improvement implementation. Saruhan (2014) explained that vertical communication flows downward or upward. Downward communication was the first type described by participants because leaders informed the employees of the change and shared the importance of the initiative. P1 stated that it was imperative to success to have a face-to-face meeting with employees for the first notification of change. P1 also noted that a follow-up email summarizing the meeting and restating the importance of the change contributed to successful implementation of the quality improvement initiative. P2 and P3 shared similar information regarding kickoff meetings. P2 stressed the importance of having face-to-face communication with the employees, and then following up with email communication. P3 shared organizational documents where the communications plan for the quality improvement initiative included an initial face-to-face meeting and follow up emails summarizing the meeting and discussing the way forward.

Upward communication is another type of vertical communication, and participants shared various examples of how it made implementation successful. P1 explained that during meetings, leaders encouraged staff to share information with leadership to make decisions based on their inputs. P1 also stated that expert deference was also important because employees are the most knowledgeable in their respective areas; therefore, leaders needed to listen to employees' input and make decisions based on the feedback from the experts. P2 stated that upward communication played an integral role to success in their quality improvement initiative because one of the team members was a provider. Seeing the provider give input and feedback to senior leadership encouraged other team members to participate.

Horizontal communication emerged as a type of communication necessary for a successful quality improvement initiative. Saruhan (2014) explained that horizontal communication occurs when employees on the same level communicate with each other. P3 conveyed that communication among team members is extremely important for success. During the interview, P3 shared that horizontal communication motivated team members to contribute to success because discussion generated a sense of competition because employees did not want to be outperformed by their peers.

The findings outlined in Theme 1 tie directly to the conceptual framework of this study. Kotter (1995) described the importance of communication for successful change in steps one and four of the eight step model of change management. In step one, Kotter (1995) explained how leaders must make a concerted effort to earn employee buy-in. Leaders of the participating primary care facilities were able to get employee buy-in by conducting face-to-face meetings to kick off the quality improvement initiative. In addition, step three of the conceptual framework encourages leaders to find the most effective methods to communicate the change to the employees. All participants shared that vertical and horizontal communication is necessary for effective quality improvement initiatives.

Emergent Theme 2: Leadership Support

The second theme that emerged from the data analysis indicated that leadership support is an imperative consideration for successful quality improvement initiatives. All participants referenced the support of the organizational leaders during the interviews. Table 4 displays the number of times participants cited leadership support during the interviews. Key terms describing leadership support appeared 34 times in the data analysis.

Table 4

Reference	Frequency
Lead	14
Management	9
Champion	8
Authority	2
Accountable	1

References to Leadership Support

Participants expressed how leadership support is necessary during several steps of the quality improvement initiative. Silver et al. (2016) found that leadership support for quality improvement projects was a contextual factor influencing project outcome. Assigning leadership support to quality improvement projects is necessary for success (Silver et al., 2016). P3 attributed part of their successful initiative to the assignment of a sponsor from the c-suite. P2 also had a c-suite sponsor to the project; however, the participant found that mid-level managers provided more support during their initiative since their initiative was central to their clinic.

Two of the participants referenced leadership helping remove barriers during the quality improvement initiative. Silver et al. (2016) confirmed that leadership support helps remove barriers during quality improvement. For example, P2 stated that during their quality improvement initiative, they had a staffing shortfall. Leaders were supportive and did not use the shortage as an excuse to not improve quality, which ultimately led to a successful initiative. P1 also shared the facility's experience with leadership support, which included having all the leaders of the clinic participate in the meetings related to quality improvement. P1 said that leaders made a concerted effort to be at every meeting to remove barriers and acquire outside support when needed.

Leadership support increased commitment from employees at each of the participating facilities. Rogiest, Segers, and van Witteloostuijn (2018) and van der Voet (2016) explained that leadership support is an important lever to increase commitment during change. P3 cited increased staff commitment to the quality improvement initiative when the leaders provided support with removing barriers to success. The participant explained that after listening to recommendations from the team to get additional laptops to support the project, leaders immediately responded by getting the needed equipment for the initiative. P2 also disclosed increased commitment from team members when
leaders appointed a project champion that was determined to make the initiative a success.

The findings based on the experiences of the participants are consistent with the conceptual framework. Kotter (1995) discussed leadership support extensively in step two of the model of change management. Kotter (1995) explained that leadership is the focus of the team and must be visible in supporting the people of the organization. However, leadership support alone may result in failure. Team members must form a coalition and develop a shared commitment to success.

Emergent Theme 3: Inclusive Decision-Making

Data analysis from the interviews revealed inclusive decision-making as the third theme of the research study. Inclusive decision-making refers to employees having input regarding proposed change (Rogiest et al., 2018). Table 5 shows that Theme 3 was the most notable theme of the findings. Participants mentioned key terms of the theme in 124 instances.

Table 5

Reference	Frequency
Team	61
Staff	40
Involved	12
Roles	8
Participant	3

References to Inclusive Decision-Making

All participants noted the relevance of inclusive decision-making during the interviews. This finding aligns with a research proposed by Abrams et al. (2015), which

considered inclusive decision-making as a quality benchmark. P1 recognized inclusive decision-making as a priority for success of quality improvement initiatives when discussing input on data and possible solutions to problems. P1 stated that during the initial meeting it is helpful to include as many employees as possible even if they are not directly involved with the initiative because that allows everyone to be informed on the need for urgency on the matter and the upcoming changes. P2 also mentioned during the interview that it was imperative to have brainstorming sessions where employees provide input.

When employees have the opportunity to map out the current reality and desired outcomes, leaders encourage participation and inclusiveness in the decision to make changes. Rogiest et al. (2018) explored the need for participation and explained that workers involved in constructing the change influence outcomes. Additionally, participation allows employees to voice concerns and provide input. Ultimately participation creates a sense of fairness and respect (Rogiest et al., 2018). P1 referred to inclusive decision-making and participation as an opportunity to empower employees and make them feel invested in the initiative. P3 added that employees are often the subject matter experts; therefore, participation is essential for success of the initiative.

Theme 3 aligns with the conceptual framework of this research study. Inclusive decision-making was a fundamental discussion in steps one and four of Kotter's eight step model of change. According to Eckert et al. (2014), primary care leaders must embrace inclusive decision-making when improving the health care quality because it drives staff members to help achieve high quality care. Drupsteen, van der Vaart, and

Van Donk (2016) added that leadership should have the right people and sufficient trust to improve the decision-making process. Leaders must also make an effort to retain highperforming staff members.

Emergent Theme 4: Employee Recognition

Employee recognition emerged as the fourth theme of the data analysis. When an organization makes an effort to reward and recognize employees, the employees reciprocate by fully engaging in their roles and responsibilities (Downey, van der Werff, Thomas, & Plaut, 2015). Table 6 demonstrates that participants cited key terms of Theme 4 a total of 11 times. All participants discussed this theme during their interviews.

Table 6

References to Employee Recognition

Reference	Frequency
Accolades	4
Recognize	7

Staff recognition is a tool leadership can use to increase staff engagement during quality improvement initiatives. As noted by many researchers, employee recognition affects job satisfaction and commitment to the organization (Ramdhani, Ramdhani, & Ainisyifa, 2017). Data analysis from the interviews aligns with previous research as it demonstrated the importance of employee recognition for successful change. P1 stated that it was important to recognize staff in public because it motivated other staff members to become high performers as well. P2 acknowledged the importance of staff recognition

by attesting that employees who received a monetary reward stayed motivated to see the initiative be successful. Document review from P3 also had examples of staff recognition. Email communication from leaders had acknowledgements to staff members whose performance was distinguishable.

Another aspect of employee recognition discussed during the interviews was the form of recognition or reward. Rewards and recognition take many forms, and leaders must ensure that the program is in line with the goals and objectives of the facility (Bakotić & Rogošić, 2017). Kosfeld, Neckermann, and Yang (2017) presented two types of employee recognition: (a) financial incentives, and (b) nonfinancial incentives. According to P2, financial incentives played a key role in the success of their initiative. The team champion remained motivated to ensure the project was a success after receiving a monetary reward for performance. P1 and P3 discussed nonfinancial incentives by just thanking them in public. Doing that encouraged the rest of the staff to perform to their potential. P3 provided a document that contained an email from organizational leaders recognizing specific team members for completing a quality improvement project. The email was sent to the entire organization.

The data analysis findings emerged from the participants' interviews and documents. The findings also align with the conceptual framework. Step eight of Kotter's model of change is to cultivate a culture of change, which portrays a notion that reward and recognition policies should incentivize good behavior (Kotter, 1995). Bakotić and Rogošić (2017) added the importance of using recognition to support the objectives of the organization. It is evident from the findings that each participating organization used some type of recognition to motivate staff members and increase commitment to the quality improvement initiative.

Applications to Professional Practice

The analysis of the data presented from this study reduces the knowledge gap of primary care leaders on improving quality measures. According to Almorsy and Khalifa (2016), the cost of health care continues to rise at an alarming rate due to operational inefficiencies and waste. Lee et al. (2016) added that the cost of health care is related to quality. A demand for primary care leaders to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste is evident as external pressures such as the Affordable Care Act proliferate attempts to contain cost (Fleming et al., 2017). This research provides successful strategies for implementing quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities. The results of the data analysis from this study provide insightful information for primary care leaders to implement initiatives that improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The findings are applicable within the health care environment. McFadden, Stock, and Gowen (2015) also explained the relationship between improving quality, reducing waste, and increasing patient safety, which is an urgent national concern due to unnecessary errors and high cost. This study offers primary care leaders an opportunity to make a significant positive impact increasing patient safety and reducing health care costs by using the strategies identified by participants to improve quality and reduce waste.

Implications for Social Change

This study contributes to positive social change in any primary care facility. McFadden et al. (2015) described the need that exists in health care organizations to improve quality, efficiency, and safety. The findings of this research might affect social change by increasing health care leaders' ability to develop strategies to successfully implement quality improvement initiatives in primary care facilities. The implications for positive social change include improving primary care practice, which benefits the community by providing access to affordable care to those in need. Implementation of quality improvement initiatives is in the best interest of the patient because it reduces negligible waste from inefficiencies, overuse, and preventable harm.

Recommendations for Action

Current and future primary care leaders may consider recommendations based on this research study to assist with implementing quality improvement initiatives geared toward improving patient outcomes and reducing waste. The study findings indicate that action steps could be beneficial when using innovative models of care to provide quality care in primary care settings. The recommendations flow logically from the conclusions and contain several action steps that leaders may incorporate in their efforts to improve quality of care. The recommendations for action are the following: (a) communicate the purpose of the initiative and its value toward quality improvement, (b) establish a leadership presence to show support and remove barriers, (c) institute inclusive decisionmaking through input and feedback, and (d) employ a rewards and recognition program that aligns with the objectives of the organization. The first recommendation of this research is to communicate the purpose of the initiative and its value toward quality improvement. The importance of vertical and horizontal communication was evident in the findings. Participants also expressed the urge to use downward and upward communication in the organization. By using different communication techniques, participants were successful at implementing quality improvement initiatives.

The second recommendation is to establish a leadership presence to show support and remove barriers. All the participants cited the need for leaders to be present and assist employees with removing barriers that could jeopardize success of the initiative. Barriers discussed by participants included staffing shortages and support needed from other areas not involved in the initiative. Leadership support also increased employee commitment to the initiative and the organization.

Inclusive decision-making through input and feedback emerged as the third recommendation. Brainstorming sessions helped leaders encourage input from the employees. Additionally, including employees in the process of constructing the change and giving them opportunities to express concerns influenced outcomes of the initiative. Employee inclusion when making decisions surfaced as an integral part of quality improvement initiative success.

The last recommendation is to employ a rewards and recognition program that aligns with the objectives of the organization. Each participant shared their experience with rewards and recognitions and noted the importance of having a program. Two types of rewards that materialized from the findings were financial and nonfinancial rewards. Rewards and recognition of employees was imperative to success of the quality improvement initiative.

Dissemination of the results of this study will occur through various methods. I will provide a compilation of the results to the leadership of the primary care facilities that participated in this study as well as within my own health care organization. I will publish the results through the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database, which will be available to colleges and universities across the country. Additionally, I will seek opportunities to present the findings through training sessions, annual conventions, and conferences to disperse the results at a local and national level.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. The population consisted of health care leaders of three primary care facilities in Southern California who successfully implemented quality improvement initiatives. Helmich et al. (2015) described how limitations are weaknesses of the study. There were two limitations identified in this study that could be addressed with further research. They include the sample size and transferability to other industries.

According to the California Health and Human Services (2018), there are 1,359 primary care clinics in the state. Since I included only three primary care facilities, adjusting the sample size for a larger number could impact the results. The study could have a different outcome by utilizing a larger sample size; therefore, the study warrants additional research of sustainability strategies primary care leaders could use for improving quality and reducing waste. The study also focused on primary care leaders that implemented quality improvement initiatives. It may be beneficial to explore the perspective of executive leadership or other employees within the primary care realm regarding quality improvement and its effect on cost, quality, and care.

Researchers should follow this study with a quantitative research. Park and Park (2016) explained that qualitative studies play a crucial role in research discovery, and quantitative studies are excellent for justification of the findings. Conducting quantitative research may provide different implementation strategies of quality improvement initiatives. Understanding the frequency of the strategies discovered in this study such as communication or recognition may provide the potential correlation with outcomes.

Reflections

My journey at Walden University was lengthy since I endured two military moves, one deployment to the Middle East, and several other life events that required leave of absence. Despite many challenges throughout this process, completion of the program was possible with perseverance and consistency. As a health care administrator, I could have influenced the research approach and analysis of the data. I have easier access to potential participants compared to someone who has no relationship with health care. The reason for selecting these primary care facilities was that leaders implemented successful quality improvement initiatives that reduced waste and improved quality outcomes. To mitigate bias, I followed the interview protocol closely, and I conducted member checking with each participant to confirm the findings. Prior to this research, I observed leaders in primary care settings fail in implementing quality improvement initiatives, which created a perception of lack of leadership strategies for successful implementation. During the study, my perception changed because health care leaders shared their success, which gave hope on decreasing the high incidence of failure when implementing change in health care. In addition, the participants shared valuable insight on the importance of how employees must understand their relationship to the mission and how to work together to achieve a common goal. This study was an eye-opening experience that also expanded my knowledge on critical-thinking and decision-making.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies primary care leaders use for implementing quality improvement initiatives to improve patient outcomes and reduce waste in primary care facilities. I conducted semistructured interviews with three senior health care managers to collect data. I also conducted member checking to ensure the accuracy of the interpretation of the interviews. Additionally, I gathered documents from participants to perform methodological triangulation. Data saturation occurred when no new themes surfaced from the data. Data analysis revealed four major themes including: (a) communication, (b) leadership engagement, (c) inclusive decision-making, and (d) employee recognition. I aligned each theme to the existing body of knowledge and the conceptual framework, which was Kotter's eight step of change management. The study findings reveal that implementation of quality improvement initiatives can improve quality and reduce waste in primary care facilities.

References

- Aaltonen, S. (2017). Challenges in gaining and re-gaining informed consent among young people on the margins of education. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20, 329-341. doi:10.1080/13645579.2016.1170412
- Abdallah, A. (2014). Implementing quality initiatives in healthcare organizations: Drivers and challenges. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 27, 166-181. doi:10.1108/IJHCQA-05-2012-0047
- Abernethy, A. P., Capell, W. H., Aziz, N. M., Ritchie, C., Prince-Paul, M., Bennett, R.
 E., & Kutner, J. S. (2014). Ethical conduct of palliative care research: Enhancing communication between investigators and institutional review boards. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 48, 1211-1221.
 doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2014.05.005
- Abrams, M., Nuzum, R., Zezza, M., Ryan, J., Kiszla, J., & Guterman, S. (2015). The Affordable Care Act's payment and delivery system reforms: A progress report at five years. *Issue Brief (Commonwealth Fund)*, 12, 1-16. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1500445
- Allahverdyan, A. E., & Galstyan, A. (2016). Emergence of leadership in communication. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(8), 1-23. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0159301
- Allen, R. E., & Wiles, J. L. (2015). A rose by any other name: Participants choosing research pseudonyms. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 13, 149-165. doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1133746
- Allenby, A., Kinsman, L., Tham, R., Symons, J., Jones, M., & Campbell, S. (2016). The

quality of cardiovascular disease prevention in rural primary care. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *24*, 92–98. doi:10.1111/ajr.12224

- Almorsy, L., & Khalifa, M. (2016). Lean Six Sigma in health care: Improving utilization and reducing waste. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, 226, 194-197. doi:10.3233/978-1-61499-664-4-194
- Amisi, J., & Downing, R. (2017). Primary care research: Does it defy definition? Primary Health Care Research & Development, 18, 523-526.

doi:10.1017/S1463423617000652

- Anneli, M., Kiikkala, I., & Astedt-Kurki, P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*, 22, 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.8.e1317
- Avendano, M., & Kawachi, I. (2014). Why do Americans have shorter life expectancy and worse health than do people in other high-income countries? *Annual Review of Public Health*, *35*, 307-325. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182411
- Bakotić, D., & Rogošić, A. (2017). Employee involvement as a key determinant of core quality management practices. *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 28, 1209-1226. doi:10.1080/14783363.2015.1094369
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research: perceptual foundations.
 International Journal of Market Research, 57, 837-854.
 doi:10.2501/IJMR-2015-070
- Basta, Y. L., Zwetsloot, I. M., Klinkenbijl, J. H. G., Rohof, T., Monster, M. M. C., Fockens, P., & Tytgat, K. M. A. J. (2016). Decreasing the dispatch time of

medical reports sent from hospital to primary care with Lean Six Sigma. *Journal* of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, 22, 690-698. doi:10.1111/jep.12518

- Baxter, P., Cleghorn, L., Alvarado, K., Cummings, G., Kennedy, D., Mckey, C., & Pfaff,
 K. (2016). Quality-based procedures in Ontario: Exploring health-care leaders'
 responses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24, 50-58. doi:10.1111/jonm.12271
- Belias, D., & Koustelios, A. (2014). The impact of leadership and change management strategy on organizational culture. *European Scientific Journal, ESJ*, *10*, 451-470. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2006.00480.x
- Blumenthal, D., Abrams, M., & Nuzum, R. (2015). The Affordable Care Act at 5 years. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*, 2451-2458.
 doi:10.1056/NEJMhpr1503614
- Bodenheimer, T., Ghorob, A., Willard-Grace, R., Grumbach, K., & Care, U. C. for E. in
 P. (2014). The 10 building blocks of primary care forming stable teamlets. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *12*, 166-171. doi:10.1370/afm.1616.INTRODUCTION
- Burden, M. (2016). Using a change model to reduce the risk of surgical site infection. *British Journal of Nursing*, *25*, 949-954. doi:10.12968/bjon.2016.25.17.949
- Burwell, S. M. (2015). Setting value-based payment goals HHS efforts to improve U.S. health care. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*, 897-899. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1500445
- California Health and Human Services. (2018). 2017 Preliminary Primary Care Clinic Annual Utilization Data. Retrieved from https://data.chhs.ca.gov/

Celie, K.-B., & Prager, K. (2015). Health care ethics consultation in the United States.

AMA Journal of Ethics, 17, 229-235.

doi:10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.12.ecas1-1612

- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). *National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 2014 State and National Summary Tables*. Retrieved from https://www. cdc.gov/
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017). *National Health Expenditures 2015 Highlights*. Retrieved from https//:www.cms.gov/
- Chapman, E. N., Kaatz, A., & Carnes, M. (2013). Physicians and implicit bias: How doctors may unwittingly perpetuate health care disparities. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28, 1504-1510. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2441-1
- Chassin, M. R., & Loeb, J. M. (2013). High-reliability health care: Getting there from here. *Milbank Quarterly*, *91*, 459-490. doi:10.1111/1468-0009.12023
- Conte, T. M. (2014). The lived experience of work-related loss and grief among pediatric oncology nurses. *Journal of Hospice & Palliative Nursing*, *16*, 40-46. doi:10.1097/NJH.000000000000019
- Conway-Orgel, M., & Edlund, B. J. (2015). Challenges in change: The perils and pitfalls of implementing a palliative care program in the neonatal intensive care unit. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing*, *17*, 206-212. doi:10.1097/NJH.00000000000150
- Cope, D. G. (2014a). Computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 322-323. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.322-323
- Cope, D. G. (2014b). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of

qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41, 89-91.

doi:10.7748/nr2009.07.16.4.40.c7160

- Crouzet, B., Parker, D., & Pathak, R. (2014). Preparing for productivity intervention initiatives. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 63, 946-959. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-10-2013-0175
- D'Innocenzo, L., Mathieu, J. E., & Kukenberger, M. R. (2016). A meta-analysis of different forms of shared leadership-team performance relations. *Journal of Management*, 42, 1964-1991. doi:10.1177/0149206314525205
- Delmatoff, J., & Lazarus, I. R. (2014). The most effective leadership style for the new landscape of healthcare. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 59, 245-249.
 Retrieved from https://www.ache.org/pubs/jhm/jhm_index.cfm
- Dempsey, L., Dowling, M., Larkin, P., & Murphy, K. (2016). Sensitive interviewing in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing and Health*, *39*, 480-490. doi:10.1002/nur.21743
- Dennison, L., Morrison, L., Conway, G., & Yardley, L. (2013). Opportunities and challenges for smartphone applications in supporting health behavior change: Qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *15*, 86. doi:10.2196/jmir.2583
- DeVoe, J. E., Huguet, N., Likumahuwa-Ackman, S., Angier, H., Nelson, C., Marino, M.,
 ... Gold, R. (2015). Testing health information technology tools to facilitate
 health insurance support: A protocol for an effectiveness-implementation hybrid
 randomized trial. *Implementation Science*, 10, 1-9.

doi:10.1186/s13012-015-03114

- Donnelly, L. F. (2017). Avoiding failure: Tools for successful and sustainable qualityimprovement projects. *Pediatric Radiology*, *47*, 793-797. doi:10.1007/s00247-017-3823-z
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*(5), 28-32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Doran, T., Maurer, K. A., & Ryan, A. M. (2017). Impact of provider incentives on quality and value of health care. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *38*, 449–465.
 doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021457
- Downey, S. N., van der Werff, L., Thomas, K. M., & Plaut, V. C. (2015). The role of diversity practices and inclusion in promoting trust and employee engagement. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 45, 35-44. Retrieved from https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com
- Drupsteen, J., van der Vaart, T., & Van Donk, D. P. (2016). Operational antecedents of integrated patient planning in hospitals. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 36, 879-900. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-05-2014-0237
- Eckert, R., West, M., Altman, D., Steward, K., & Pasmore, B. (2014). *Delivering a Collective Leadership Strategy for Health Care. The King's Fund.* Retrieved from http://www.kingsfund.org.uk
- Edwards, S. T., Bitton, A., Hong, J., & Landon, B. E. (2014). Patient-centered medical home initiatives expanded in 2009-2013: Providers, patients, and payment incentives increased. *Health Affairs*, *33*, 1823-1831.

doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0351

- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*, *4*, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Essary, M. L. (2014). Key external factors influencing successful distance education programs. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, *18*, 121-136. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Ewing, M. (2013). The patient-centered medical home solution to the cost-quality conundrum. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, *58*, 258-266. Retrieved from http://www.ache.org/pubs/jhm/jhm_index.cfm
- Fetterman, D., Kaftarian, S., & Wandersman, A. (2015). Empowerment evaluation: Knowledge and tools for self-assessment, evaluation capacity building, and accountability (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publication.
- Fleiszer, A. R., Semenic, S. E., Ritchie, J. A., Richer, M. C., & Denis, J. L. (2015). The sustainability of healthcare innovations: A concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71, 1484-1498. doi:10.1111/jan.12633
- Fleming, N. S., da Graca, B., Ogola, G. O., Culler, S. D., Austin, J., McConnell, P., ... Fullerton, C. (2017). Costs of transforming established primary care practices to patient-centered medical homes (PCMHs). *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 30, 460-471. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2017.04.170039
- Fugard, A., & Potts, H. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: A quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research*

Methodology, 18, 669-684. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks. nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3/
- Gagnon, M., Jacob, J. D., & McCabe, J. (2015). Locating the qualitative interview:
 Reflecting on space and place in nursing research. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 20, 203-215. doi:10.1177/1744987114536571
- Gassman, J., & Thompson, A. (2017). Examining how accreditation standards may drive quality improvement and accountability in nonprofit studies educational programs. *Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership*, *7*, 39-48. doi:10.18666/JNEL-2017-V7-I1-7581
- Gauld, R., Burgers, J., Dobrow, M., Minhas, R., Wendt, C., B. Cohen, A., & Luxford, K.
 (2014). Healthcare system performance improvement. *Journal of Health* Organization and Management, 28, 2-20. doi:10.1108/JHOM-03-2013-0057
- Gavriloff, C., Ostrowski-Delahanty, S., & Oldfield, K. (2017). The impact of Lean Six Sigma methodology on patient scheduling. *Nursing Economics*, 35, 189-193. Retrieved from http://www.nursingeconomics.net/
- Ginter, P. M., Swayne, L. E., & Duncan, W. J. (2018). *The strategic management of health care organizations* (8th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Goerlich Zief, S., & Cole, R. P. (2016). A framework for evaluation technical assistance.
 American Journal of Publich Health, 106, 24-26.
 doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303365

- Grace, S. L., Poirier, P., Norris, C. M., Oakes, G. H., Somanader, D. S., & Suskin, N. (2014). Pan-Canadian development of cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention quality indicators. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, *30*, 945-948. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2014.04.003
- Greenfield, G., Foley, K., & Majeed, A. (2016). Rethinking primary care's gatekeeper role. *BMJ (Online)*, *354*, 1-6. doi:10.1136/bmj.i4803
- Griffith, J. R. (2015). Understanding high-reliability organizations: Are Baldrige recipients models? *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 60, 44–61. Retrieved from https://www.ache.org/pubs/jhm/jhm_index.cfm
- Ha, C., McCoy, D. A., Taylor, C. B., Kirk, K. D., Fry, R. S., & Modi, J. R. (2016). Using Lean Six Sigma methodology to improve a mass immunizations process at the United States Naval Academy. *Military Medicine*, *181*, 582-588. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-15-00247
- Harris, A., Ellerbe, L., Phelps, T. E., Finney, J. W., Bowe, T., Gupta, S., ... Trafton, J. (2015). Examining the specification validity of the HEDIS quality measures for substance use disorders. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 53, 16-21. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2015.01.002
- Harris, S. B., Green, M. E., Brown, J. B., Roberts, S., Russell, G., Fournie, M., ...
 Birtwhistle, R. (2015). Impact of a quality improvement program on primary healthcare in Canada: A mixed-method evaluation. *Health Policy*, *119*, 405-416. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2014.10.019

Harvey, G., & Lynch, E. (2017). Enabling continuous quality improvement in practice:

The role and contribution of facilitation. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *5*, 1-5. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00027

- Helmich, E., Boerebach, B. C. M., Arah, O. A., & Lingard, L. (2015). Beyond
 limitations: Improving how we handle uncertainty in health professions education
 research. *Medical Teacher*, *37*, 1043-1050. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2015.1073239
- Hickner, J., Thompson, P. J., Wilkinson, T., Epner, P., Shaheen, M., Pollock, A. M., ...
 Taylor, J. R. (2014). Primary care physicians' challenges in ordering clinical
 laboratory tests and interpreting results. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 27, 268-274. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2014.02.130104
- Höög, E., Lysholm, J., Garvare, R., Weinehall, L., & Nyström, M. E. (2016). Quality improvement in large healthcare organizations. *Journal of Health Organization* and Management, 30, 133-153. doi:10.1108/JHOM-10-2013-0209
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17.
 doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hu, J., Schreiber, M., Jordan, J., George, D. L., & Nerenz, D. (2018). Associations between community sociodemographics and performance in HEDIS quality measures: A study of 22 medical centers in a primary care network. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 33, 5-13. doi:10.1177/1062860617695456
- Hudson, S. M., Hiott, D. B., Cole, J., Davis, R., Egan, B. M., & Laken, M. A. (2014).
 Increasing capacity for quality improvement in underresourced primary care settings. *Quality Management in Health Care*, 23, 155-162.

doi:10.1097/QMH.000000000000031

- Hughes, M. (2016). Leading changes: Why transformation explanations fail. *Leadership*, *12*, 449-469. doi:10.1177/1742715015571393
- Improta, G., Balato, G., Romano, M., Carpentieri, F., Bifulco, P., Alessandro Russo, M., ... Cesarelli, M. (2015). Lean Six Sigma: A new approach to the management of patients undergoing prosthetic hip replacement surgery. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 21, 662-672. doi:10.1111/jep.12361
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 1043-1056. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Kaplan, R. S., & Witkowski, M. L. (2014). Better accounting transforms health care delivery. *Accounting Horizons*, 28, 365-383. doi:10.2308/acch-50658
- Kelley, J. M., Kraft-Todd, G., Schapira, L., Kossowsky, J., & Riess, H. (2014). The influence of the patient-clinician relationship on healthcare outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(4), e94207. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0094207
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44, 536-543. doi:10.1111/ bjet.12049
- Kosfeld, M., Neckermann, S., & Yang, X. (2017). The effects of financial and recognition incentives across work contexts: The role of meaning. *Economic*

Inquiry, 55, 237-247. doi:10.1111/ecin.12350

- Kotter, J. P. (1995). Leading change: Why transformation efforts fail. *Harvard Business Review*, 2, 59-67. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/
- Kouzes, J. M., Posner, B., & Morgan, A. (2014). The student leadership challenge: Five practices for becoming an exemplary leader. San Francisco, CA: The Leadership Challenge, 2014.
- Lame, G., Jouini, O., & Stal-Le Cardinal, J. (2017). Combining the viable system model and Kotter's 8 steps for multidepartment integration in hospitals. *12eme Conference International*. Retrieved from https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01519593/ document
- Lee, V. S., Kawamoto, K., Hess, R., Park, C., Young, J., Hunter, C., ... Pendleton, R. C. (2016). Implementation of a value-driven outcomes program to identify high variability in clinical costs and outcomes and association with reduced cost and improved quality. *Journal of American Medical Association*, *316*, 1061-1072. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.12226
- Lessard, S., Bareil, C., Lalonde, L., Duhamel, F., Hudon, E., Goudreau, J., & Lévesque,
 L. (2016). External facilitators and interprofessional facilitation teams: A
 qualitative study of their roles in supporting practice change. *Implementation Science*, *11*(97), 1–13. doi:10.1186/s13012-016-0458-7
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, *4*, 324-327.
 doi:10.4103/22494863.161306

- Lewis, C. M., Monroe, M. M., Roberts, D. B., Hessel, A. C., Lai, S. Y., & Weber, R. S. (2015). An audit and feedback system for effective quality improvement in head and neck surgery: Can we become better surgeons? *Cancer*, *121*, 1581-1587. doi:10.1002/cncr.29238
- Lines, B. C., Sullivan, K. T., Smithwick, J. B., & Mischung, J. (2015). Overcoming resistance to change in engineering and construction: Change management factors for owner organizations. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33, 1170-1179. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.01.008
- Longenecker, C. O., & Longenecker, P. D. (2014). Why hospital improvement efforts fail: A view from the front line. *Journal of Healthcare Management / American College of Healthcare Executives*, *59*, 147-157. Retrieved from http://jhm.sagepub. com/
- Lv, C., & Zhang, L. (2017). How can collective leadership influence the implementation of change in health care? *Chinese Nursing Research*, *4*, 182-185.
 doi:10.1016/J.CNRE.2017.10.005
- Makary, M. A., & Daniel, M. (2016). Medical error—the third leading cause of death in the US. *British Medical Journal*, 353, i2139. doi:10.1136/bmj.i2139
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2015). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(3), 1-8. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Manzoli, L., Flacco, M. E., De Vito, C., Arcà, S., Carle, F., Capasso, L., ... Villari, P. (2014). AHRQ prevention quality indicators to assess the quality of primary care

of local providers: A pilot study from Italy. *European Journal of Public Health*, 24, 745-750. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckt203

- Martin, A. B., Hartman, M., Benson, J., & Catlin, A. (2016). National health spending in 2014: Faster growth driven by coverage expansion and prescription drug spending. *Health Affairs*, 35, 150-160. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1194
- Mathieu, J. E., Tannenbaum, S. I., Donsbach, J. S., & Alliger, G. M. (2014). A review and integration of team composition models: Moving toward a dynamic and temporal framework. *Journal of Management*, 40, 130-160. doi:10.1177/0149206313503014
- Matos Marques Simoes, P., & Esposito, M. (2014). Improving change management: How communication nature influences resistance to change. *Journal of Management Development*, 33, 324-341. doi:10.1108/JMD-05-2012-0058
- McFadden, K. L., Stock, G. N., & Gowen, C. R. (2015). Leadership, safety climate, and continuous quality improvement: Impact on process quality and patient safety. *Health Care Management Review*, 40, 24–34.

doi:10.1097/HMR.0000000000000006

- Moraros, J., Lemstra, M., & Nwankwo, C. (2016). Lean interventions in healthcare: Do they actually work? A systematic literature review. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 28, 150-165. doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzv123
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources*, 27, 557-571.

doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791

- Mount, A., & Anderson, I. (2015). Driving change-not just a walk in the park: The role of the nurse champion in sustained change. *Nurse Leader*, *13*(4), 36–38.
 doi:10.1016/j.mnl.2015.06.003
- National Committee for Quality Assurance. (2018). *HEDIS 2018 Measures*. Retrieved from www.ncqa.org
- Nelson, J. (2016). Using conceptual depth criteria: Addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research (Online)*. doi:10.1177/1468794116679873
- Nkwake, A. M., & Morrow, N. (2016). Clarifying concepts and categories of assumptions for use in evaluation. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 59, 97-101. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.05.014
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Nuckols, T. K., Keeler, E., Morton, S., Anderson, L., Doyle, B. J., Pevnick, J., ...
 Shekelle, P. (2017). Economic evaluation of quality improvement interventions designed to prevent hospital readmission: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 177, 975–985. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.1136
- Obama, B. (2016). United States health care reform: Progress to date and next steps. Journal of the American Medical Association, 316, 525-532. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.9797

Orszag, P. R. (2016). US health care reform cost containment and improvement in

quality. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, *316*, 493-495. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.9876.Conflict

- Osatuke, K., & Yanchus, N. (2014). Change in the Veterans Health Administration: Theory and applications. *Journal of Organizational Psychology*, *14*, 77–95. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(10), 1-7. doi:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Pavlič, D. R., Sever, M., Klemenc-Ketiš, Z., & Švab, I. (2015). Process quality indicators in family medicine: results of an international comparison. *BMC Family Practice*, *16*(172), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12875-015-0386-7
- Pawlson, L. G., Scholle, S. H., & Powers, A. (2007). Comparison of administrative-only versus administrative plus chart review data for reporting HEDIS hybrid measures. *American Journal of Managed Care*, 13, 553-558. Retrieved from http://www.ajmc.com/
- Pearce, C. L. (2015). Developmental health services leadership: Integrating hierarchical and shared leadership for health services organizational learning. *Health Services Management Research*, 28(3–4), 76-82. doi:10.1177/0951484815611924

- Pendharkar, S. R., Woiceshyn, J., Da Silveira, G. J. C., Bischak, D., Flemons, W., McAlister, F., & Ghali, W. A. (2016). What happens when healthcare innovations collide? *BMJ Quality and Safety*, 25, 9-13. doi:10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004441
- Peticca-Harris, A., DeGama, N., & Elias, S. (2016). A dynamic process model for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19, 376-401. doi:10.1177/1094428116629218
- Pollack, J., & Pollack, R. (2015). Using Kotter's eight stage process to manage an organisational change program: Presentation and practice. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, 28, 51-66. doi:10.1007/s11213-014-9317-0
- Quraishi, J., & Jordan, L. (2015). Quality and performance measurement: National efforts to improve quality of care through measurement development. *American Association of Nurse Anesthetists*, 82, 184–188. Retrieved from www.aana.com/aanajournalonline
- Ramdhani, A., Ramdhani, M. A., & Ainisyifa, H. (2017). Model conceptual framework of corporate culture influenced on employees commitment to organization. *International Business Management*, 11, 826-830. doi:10.3923/ibm.2017.826.830
- Renedo, A., & Marston, C. (2015). Spaces for citizen involvement in healthcare: An ethnographic study. *Sociology*, 49, 488-504. doi:10.1177/0038038514544208
- Riggs, K. R. (2015). The health care "iron triangle." *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 82, 332. doi:10.3949/ccjm.82c.06001
- Rinke, M. L., B. D. G., Abdullah, F., Colantuoni, E., Zhang Y., Miller R., M., & Miller,M. R. (2015). State-mandated hospital infection reporting is not associated with

decreased pediatric health care-associated infections. Journal of Patient Safety,

11, 123-134. Retrieved from www.journalpatientsafety.com

- Robst, J., Rost, K., & Marshall, D. (2013). Do employers know the quality of health care benefits they provide? Use of HEDIS depression scores for health plans. *Psychiatric Services*, 64, 1134-1139. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201200534
- Rogiest, S., Segers, J., & van Witteloostuijn, A. (2018). Matchmaking in organizational change: Does every employee value participatory leadership? An empirical study. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, *34*, 1-8. doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2017.05.003
- Rosenthal, M., Sinaiko, A., Eastman, D., Chapman, B., & Partridge, G. (2015). Impact of the Rochester medical home inititiative on primary care practices, quality, utilization, and costs. *Medical Care*, *53*, 967-973.
 doi:10.1097/MLR.00000000000424
- Santos, J. N., & Baptista, C. S. (2016). Information exchange within horizontal relationships: A fuzzy-set approach to companies' characteristics role. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 5255-5260. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.121
- Saruhan, N. (2014). The role of corporate communication and perception of justice during organizational change process. *Business and Economics Research Journal*, 5, 143-166. https://www.berjournal.com
- Saust, L. T., Monrad, R. N., Hansen, M. P., Arpi, M., & Bjerrum, L. (2016). Quality assessment of diagnosis and antibiotic treatment of infectious diseases in primary care: A systematic review of quality indicators. *Scandanavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 34, 258-266. doi:10.1080/02813432.2016.1207143

Schwaninger, M., & Scheef, C. (2016). A test of the viable system model: Theoretical claim vs. empirical evidence. *Cybernetics and Systems*, *47*, 544-569. doi:10.1080/01969722.2016.1209375

Scott, C. P. R., Jiang, H., Wildman, J. L., & Griffith, R. (2018). The impact of implicit collective leadership theories on the emergence and effectiveness of leadership networks in teams. *Human Resource Management Review 28*, 464-481. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2017.03.005

- Shaw, F. E., Asomugha, C. N., Conway, P. H., & Rein, A. S. (2014). The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act: Opportunities for prevention and public health. *The Lancet*, 384, 75-82. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60259-2
- Sibthorpe, B., Agostino, J., Coates, H., Weeks, S., Lehmann, D., Wood, M., ...
 McAullay, D. (2017). Indicators for continuous quality improvement for otitis media in primary health care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 23, 1-9. doi: 10.1071/PY16096
- Silver, S. A., McQuillan, R., Harel, Z., Weizman, A. V, Thomas, A., Nesrallah, G., ... Chertow, G. M. (2016). How to sustain change and support continuous quality improvement. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, *11*, 916-924. doi:10.2215/CJN.11501015

Simou, E., Pliatsika, P., Koutsogeorgou, E., & Roumeliotou, A. (2015). Quality indicators for primary health care: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 21(5), E8–E16. doi:/10.1097/PHH.000000000000037

- Snowden, J. A., McGrath, E., Duarte, R. F., Saccardi, R., Orchard, K., Worel, N., ...
 Mohty, M. (2017). JACIE accreditation for blood and marrow transplantation:
 Past, present and future directions of an international model for healthcare quality
 improvement. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 52, 1367–1371.
 doi.10.1038/bmt.2017.54
- Solberg, L. I., Crain, a L., Tillema, J. O., Fontaine, P. L., Whitebird, R. R., Flottemesch, T. J., ... Crabtree, B. F. (2014). Challenges of medical home transformation reported by 118 patient-centered medical home (PCMH) leaders. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, *27*, 449–57. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2014.04.130303
- Suthar, N., Roy, S., Call, D. R., Besser, T. E., & Davis, M. A. (2014). An individualbased model of transmission of resistant bacteria in a veterinary teaching hospital. *PLOS ONE*, 9(6), 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0098589
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68, 226-231. doi:10.1111/acem.12735
- Swensen, S. J., Dilling, J. A., Mc Carty, P. M., Bolton, J. W., & Harper, C. M. (2013).
 The business case for health-care quality improvement. *Journal of Patient Safety*, 9, 44-52. doi:10.1097/PTS.0b013e3182753e33
- Tam, N. T., Huy, N. T., Thoa, L. T. B., Long, N. P., Trang, N. T. H., Hirayama, K., &
 Karbwang, J. (2015). Participants' understanding of informed consent in clinical
 trials over three decades: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bull World Health*

Organ, 93, 186-198. doi:10.2471/BLT.14.141390

- Thomas, P. (2017). Collaborating sites for community-oriented integrated care and health promotion. *London Journal of Primary Care*, *9*, 2-6. doi:10.1080/17571472.2016.1271491
- Tolk, J. N., Cantu, J., & Beruvides, M. (2015). High reliability organization research: A literature review for health care. *Engineering Management Journal*, 27, 218-237. doi:10.1080/10429247.2015.1105087
- Trivedi, A. N., Wilson, I. B., Charlton, M. E., & Kizer, K. W. (2016). Agreement between HEDIS performance assessments in the VA and Medicare Advantage: Is quality in the eye of the beholder? *A Journal of Medical Care Organization*, *Provision and Financing*, 53, 1-3. doi:10.1177/0046958016638804
- Tuapawa, K. (2017). Interpreting experiences of students using educational online technologies to interact with teachers in blended tertiary environments: A phenomenological study. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 33, 163-175. doi:10.14742/ajet.2964
- Tumele, S. (2015). Case study research. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing and Marketing*, 4(9), 68-78. doi:10.1086/421629

Turner, S. F., Cardinal, L. B., & Burton, R. M. (2017). Research design for mixed methods. Organizational Research Methods, 20, 243-267. doi:10.1177/1094428115610808

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2016). The Belmont Report. https://www.hhs.gov/ van den Driessen Mareeuw, F. A., Hollegien, M. I., Coppus, A. M. W., Delnoij, D. M. J.,
& De Vries, E. (2017). In search of quality indicators for Down syndrome healthcare: A scoping review. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*, 284-297. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2228-x

Van der Biezen, M., Derckx, E., Wensing, M., & Laurant, M. (2017). Factors influencing decision of general practitioners and managers to train and employ a nurse practitioner or physician assistant in primary care: A qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice*, 18, 1-10. doi:10.1186/s12875-017-0587-3

 van der Voet, J. (2016). Change leadership and public sector organizational change: Examining the interactions of transformational leadership style and red tape. *American Review of Public Administration*, 46, 660-682. doi:10.1177/0275074015574769

Van Loenen, T., Faber, M. J., Westert, G. P., & Van Den Berg, M. J. (2016). The impact of primary care organization on avoidable hospital admissions for diabetes in 23 countries. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 34*, 5-12. doi:10.3109/02813432.2015.1132883

- Viryansky, Z. Y., Semenov, V. P., & Shaposhnikov, S. O. (2017). Training of quality managers as part of solving the problem of import substitution. 2017 IEEE VI Forum Strategic Partnership of Universities and Enterprises of Hi-Tech Branches, 55–57. doi:10.1109/IVForum.2017.8246049
- Vitak, J., Shilton, K., & Ashktorab, Z. (2016). Beyond the Belmont Principles: Ethical challenges, practices, and beliefs in the online data research community.

Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing - CSCW '16, 939-951. doi:10.1145/2818048.2820078

- Vogus, T. J., & Iacobucci, D. (2016). Creating highly reliable health care: How reliability-enhancing work practices affect patient safety in hospitals. *Industrial* and Labor Relations Review, 69, 911-938. doi:10.1177/0019793916642759
- Waterworth, P., Pescud, M., Chappell, S., Davies, C., Roche, D., Shilton, T., ...
 Rosenberg, M. (2016). Culture, management and finances as key aspects for healthy workplace initiatives. *Health Promotion International*, (August). doi:10.1093/heapro/daw068
- Welch, M. (2014). Exploring the impact of communication technologies on business air travel. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications & Conflict, 18*, 187-213. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Williamsson, A., Eriksson, A., & Dellve, L. (2016). Organization of change agents during care process redesign in Swedish health care. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 5(3), 20-32. doi:10.5430/jha.v5n3p20
- Yin, R. (2017). *Case study research: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Young, R. A., Roberts, R. G., & Holden, R. J. (2017). The challenges of measuring, improving, and reporting quality in primary care. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 15(2), 175–182. doi:10.1370/afm.2014
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, *27*, 13-15.

doi:10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4

Date:

Interviewee:

Semistructured interview questions, and follow-up and probing questions focusing on the participants' experiences:

- 1. What has been your experience with implementing quality improvement initiatives?
- 2. What role did you play in the implementation of the quality improvement initiatives?
- 3. How did you communicate the change vision to employees?
- 4. Who was involved in the planning process for the quality improvement initiatives?
- 5. What steps did you follow when implementing the quality improvement initiatives?
- 6. What successful strategies did you use to implement quality improvement initiatives?
- 7. What strategies failed to meet the intended results, and why they were not successful in your opinion?
- 8. How did you overcome the challenges posed by those failed strategies?
- 9. What other comments or additional information would you like to add regarding strategies used to implement primary care transformation initiatives?